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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF: NORTHUMBERLN‘*D COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterlal Distict Number: 08-2-01 v VS,
MDJ: Hon. William Cole DEF E NDANT ' (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address:; 150 S, Market Street DAMON DANIEL DOWKUS
Mount Carmel, PA 17851 First Name Middfe Neme Last Name Ge
S : 1212 Poplar Street, Kulpmont, PA 17834
Te!ephone (570)339»2140 ' ' DEFENDANT NEEDS PROCESSING
UM 28 VIR “TENCIC Exiraallion Gode TYRe. ot i & B g T o g T e
ImEE Feiony Full EJ 5 FeIOny Pendmg Extradition 2 C-Misdemeanar swounding Stales I Distance:
1 2-Fejony Umited - 3 6-Felony Pending Extradition Detern,  [J D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
{1 3-Felony Surrounding States 71 A-Misdernsaner Fuft [ E-Misdemeanar Pending Extredition
D 4- Fe!ony No Ex!radftiun [ B-Mlsdemeanor Limitad ’ EI F-Misdemeanor Pendmg Extrad!hon
T A T T e S R DEFENDANT IDBN T ICATION INFORRMATION - Fr0 i S fr e R T o e e Ao,
Docket Number Dalo Flied OTNILIveScan Number Compxammncwent Nomber g:g‘,’:j;;"b |
LR- ~ A3 | 1208,.2000+ R3297A7~-b BCC200407 Yes LINo
GENDER | pop 09/24/2001 {poB - | addinog [ | Co-Defendants)
Male - First Name ‘ -{ Middle Name Last Name - Gen.
1 Femate AKA
CE 3} ) i Unknown
§¢HNIC¥TY 1.1 m:gznfu : = g Non-Hispanic ﬁfgum Naltve/:.fneﬂcan = ] .
X 71 6RY {Gray) I RED (RedrAubN) [ sy (Sanay) I 8LU (Blue} * [ PLE {Purpls) ' 8RO (Brown)
e ey CloNG Orange T WHi (whits) £ 300K (Unkald) (] GRN (@reen) [ PNK (Pick)
3 BLN (Blonda 7 Strayberry) K N . .
Eye O stk (Black) 1 8LU (Blue) {1 8RO (Brovin) {7 GRN-{Green) ‘ {3 GRY (Gray)
Color  [XIHAZ (Hazel) {1 MaR (Mareon) CIPNK (Rinky [ MUL (Muliealored) {77 2% Unknown)
DNA Oves & NO | DNA Lovation | WEIGHT (ibs,)
FBt Number | wNu Nurber '
Defendant Fingerprinted | [7] VES R NO Ft. HEIGHT In,
“Fingerprint Classilcationt T | T IR [ 10
DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION
State | Hez Reglatration Comm'| Veh, School Veh, Ofit, NCIC Veh. CGode Reyg,
Plate # ‘ mat) stieker MY}/ | Ind, OJ '» 0 . ' a5 Oef,
ViIN , Year Neake Model Style . Color o

Office of the attomey for the Cormmonweaith [J Approved [0 Dfsapproved becausse:

{The attorney for the Gommonweem may require that the complaini, arnast warrant affidavit, of both ba approveﬂ by The aftoriey for the Commonwealih prior
to filing. See Pa.R.Crim.P. 507).

Jugl M. Sembret, SDRE (26,7077
(Neme ofitha attarsy for the Commorwes ”TT# " (Oale)
L5 AVID SCI H 0 ' 595

(Name of the Affiant) ' . (PSPIMPQETC -Assigned Affiant ID Nurber & Badge #

of ___Pennsvivania Ofﬁce of Atorney nge’r%l PAD222400
(ldensiy Department or Agency Represented and Polltical Subdivislon). {Polica Agency DRI Numbar)
do hereby stats: {check appropriate box)

1. ® I accuse the above named defendant who fives at the address set forth above

O | acguse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

I3} accuse the dsfendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom { have. .
therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe
with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsyivama at %10‘ 212 Montana Drive, Mount Carmel
Vision Lods Face-Ponacal Subg J

Township, Kulpmont, Pa 17834 - (FaCE-Poltca Wision
in NORTHUMBERLAND 1491 oh or about 09/23/2020 and 09/30/2020
County » {County Code) ,
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The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropnate
When there |s more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically,

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts suffi cient 10 advise the défendant of the nature of the offienae(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) sllegedly viofated,
without more, is not sufficient. In a summary gase, you fust cite the spacific seotion(s) and subsection({s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s) aliegediy violated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included If known. in addition, socfal security humbers and financial information {e.g. PiNs} should not
be listed. If the ldentity of.an account must be established, list only the last four digits, 204 PA,Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7))

O Solicltation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
18 902A 18 903

Supsection PASEuLE (Tle)  Counts Grade NGIC 2:':"“ UCR/NIBRS Cade
o eT P - e T 1
,%eﬁ‘%pp “h‘a"ﬁfé AL ‘3} R B [} Interstate [ sefety zone [T Werk Zone

' Statute Descnptnon (mclude the name of statute or ordinance): PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2701(A)(1): SIMPLE ASSAULT

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense Defendant, on the above dates and at the above lacation, attempted to cause or intentionally,
kniowingly or recklessly caused bodily Injury to another, To wit: defendant intentionatly burned nine different male victims on thelr bare buttocks with a lit

purik* stick and/or sparkier, causmg the victims pain from these burns; seven of the victims suifered scarring as a result ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR
SECOND DEGREE,

O Solicitation {71 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older 0
13902 A 18 903

PA Statute {Title} Counts -

c - - s £,
Code ‘ UCP./NiQRS Code

i ‘, {w {?“f{é wa.'.%?' 5}“{ 7 tnterstate (J Safety Zone {3 wWork Zone

Statute Descrlpti n (include the name of statute or ordmance) PA TITLE 18 SECTION 4952(A)(1); INTIMIDATION OF WITNESSES OR
VICTIMS

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: Dei‘endant, on the above dates and at the above location, with the intent to or with the
knowledge that his conduct will obstruct, impede, impair, prevent or interfere with the administration of criminat justice, he tntimldates or attempts to
intiniidate any witness gr victim to refrain from Informing ot reporténg to any law enforcement officer, prosecuting officia! or Judge conceming any information,
document or thing relating to the commissian of a crime. To wit: after committing the crimes of Simple Assault and Hazing, the defendant told the victims:
"What happens here, stays here,..Don't say anything...Nothing leaves here...If we go down, we go down altogether,” Defendant also told a victim to say that
he voluntarlly got burned and it was his choice, ONE COUNT~-MISDEMEAF\OR SECOND DEGREE. .

—

3 1 Attempt ‘3 Solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Qider O
18 9071 A . 18902A 18 903

Goutls ——Grade _NCIC Offense Gode UCRINBRS Code
! ) S 0 Interstate {1 Safety Zone ] {1 Work Zone
Statute Desonption (mclude the name of statute or Ordinance) PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2802(A)(3): HAZING

Acts of the accused associated wlth this Oﬂ’ense' Defendant, on the above dates and at the sbove location, intentionally, knowingly or recklessly,
for the purpose of initiating, admitting or affiliating a minor or student Into or with an organization, or for the purpuse of continuing or enhancing a minor or
student's membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor or student to-endure brutality of a physical nature, Including branding.
To wit: the defendant and elght other co-defendants initisted nine male victims as “new starters” on the Mt, Carmel Area High Schoo} Football Team; the
vicims were made to puil down their pants and expese their bare buttocks; the victims were gach burned on their bare burtpcks with a It "punk" stick andfor
sparkler, causing burns and pain to all nine victims; seven of the victims sustained scarring as a result, ONE COUNT-MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.
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2. | ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be Issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made. '

3. | verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating
to unsworn faisification to authorities. ‘ ’

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 3 through ﬁ/

5. | certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential
information and documents, ’

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited.

(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn to before the
issuing authority, and attached.) ’ .

(Date) 0 geem ,QQ»{\ g ) (Year) 'Q‘D 9‘9‘*

AND NOW, on this date ! al -~ 1‘9 - 2 o | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified,

(Signatuse of Afflant)

An' affidavit of probable cause musl be completed before a warsant can be issued,

T

SEAL

(Magisterial District Court Number)

AOPC 412A - Rev. 7/18 | T Page 2 of 17
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AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

On 10/6/2020, Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Daniel Politza was assigned to a complaint
from the Northumberland County Children & Youth, This complaint was concerning a Child Line referral
that was received from a mandated reporter. This referral was regarding a possible hazing incident
involving the Mount Carmel Area High School football players. It was reported that players were burned
by punks (a burning stick usually used to keep bugs away) and sparklers on their buttocks, Juvenile
victim #1 was reportedly burned by other football players.

Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Brian Carnuccio, who is also the School Resource Officer for
the High School, took over the investigation and followed up on the complaint. Officer Carnuccio stated
he learned that the incident in which juvenile victim #1 was burned on his butiocks with punks and
sparklers occurred on Wednesday, 9/30/2020, at football team captain Reed Witkoski's residence In
Northumberland County at 212 Montana Drive, Mount Carmel Township, Kulpmont, PA. Officer
Carnuccio learned that seniors and new starters were invited to watch game footage from the week
before at the Witkoski's house as part of a “football watch party”, Officer Camuccio observed a plcture '
of the burns on juvenile victim #1's buttocks, -

Officer Carnuccio met with the parents of additional Juvenlle victims: #2 and #3. He obtained
photos of burn marks that they sustained as a result of the initiation. He saw that juvenile victim #2 was -
burned on his buttocks and juvenite victim #3 was burned on the back of his neck,

Officer Carnuccio indicated that there was little to no amount of cooperation in his investigation from
the parents of other victims. He said he reached out to about 20 parents. Officer Carnuccio also said
he learned that thie perpetrators were the team captains: Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile
perpetrator #1. Also, he learned that other perpetrators may have been Tyler Owens, and juvenile’
perpetrator #2. Juvenile perpetrator #3 and Michael Balichik were also présent

In addition to havmg photos of the burn marks sustained by the juvemle victims #1, 2, and 3, Officer
Carnuccio had copies of two social media posts from Instagram. They were photos of Reed Witkoski
and juvenile victim #4 posing together, On the bottom, it read. “No Asses were harmed in the making

- of this post”; and "reedwitkoski", S

On 10/23/2020, Officer Camuccio obtained search warrants and he seized the following football
playérs' cell phones on 10/24/2020: Reed Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #1; Tyler Owens; Damon
Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #2 and 3; and Michae! Balichik. These were older players whom he
identifiled as being present during the incidents and they were not burned, On 10/30/2020, these cell
phones were taken to the Pennsylvama State Police Bureau of Criminal lnvestlgatlons Computer Crime
Unit for analysis,

The head football coach for the Mount Carmel Area High Schooi foothall team was John Darrah.
Darrah stated he learned of the Child Line complaint about hazing through a meeting with Officer
- Carnuccio and the-athletic director, Greg Sacavage. Darrah said he saw a picture of someone with an -
injury and he could tell it was serlous. Practices were canceled and the school board was notified,
Darrah said there was a team meeting on that Thursday night and the players were given until noon on
that Friday to come in and tell what had happened. ‘Darrah said no one came in, so they canceled the
game that was supposed to be on that Saturday. Darrah subsequently met with juvenz$e victim #1. He

AOPC 411C — Rev. 07/18 ," | | T IF o .
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DAMON DANIEL DOWKUS

learned that the football watch parties occurred, and juvenile victim #1 went to one on 9/30/2020, when
he and other victims were burned with punks and sparklers by older members of the football team.
Darrah said that, after speaking with juvenile victim #1 and belng provided a list of victims, he filed a
Child Line report, : :

Darrah then met-with Juvemle victim #2 and his parents. Juvenile \nctlm #2 also reiated to him that
he was a victim of being burned. Darrah also said that juvenile victim #2 told him that Damon Dowkus
called him from his sister's phone and told him: “You can tell people that you were here, but don’t tell
themn,..you.didn't know you were going to be burned before you came.” Darrah said juvenile victim #2
said he was blindfolded, asked to pull his pants down, and he was burned. Darrah said that juvenile
victim #2 also had a severe burn on his leg, Darrah said juvenile victim #2 provided hames of victims
and perpetrators,

" Darrah also stated that he met with juvenile victim #3 at his house, Juvenile victim #3 would not tell
him anything at that time, but he came to Darrah’s office that following Monday and spoke to Darrah.
Juvenile victim #3 told him he was burned on the neck.

Darrah said he tried to speak to other players, but they would not cooperate. At some pomt the
school's Investigation ended with the rest of the football season being canceled.

On 10/30/2020, Northumberland County District Attorney Anthony Matulewicz referred this case 1o -
the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General. On 11/13/2020,-your affiant, Special Agent David
Scicchitano from the Bureau of Criminal Investigations, was assigned to this case and took over this
- investigation. Your affiant obtained and reviewed the files from Mount Carmel Township Police Officer

Brian Carnuccio. On 2/18/2021; after receiving the results back on the cell phones that were searched,
your affiant started to review this informatlon :

Juvenile perpetrator #2 had messaging on his phone which included conversations with his mother
and father. His mother questioned him on 10/12/2020 as to why Officer Carnuccio was trying to reach
her'and if it was about the “hazing thing.” On 10/15/2020, his father wanted to know if juvenile
perpetrator #2 wanted to know “wha ratted on the team.” Juvenile perpetrator #2 responded: “Ya.”

Tyler Owens’ phone had a chat on it between Owens and a female Identified as his girifriend. On
10/7/2020, Owens wrote: “We're gonna be in so much trouble we think someone snitched about the
punks at reeds”. Owens wrote: “...someone snitched...(juvenile victim 1's name) without a doubt”.
When thé female asked about what was shitched on, Owens said: “Burning their asses with punks at
reeds”. Owens also said, *...we're getting arfested.” When the female asked why, Owens responded:
“Hazing.” On 10/9/2020, Owens continued his chat with this female. He continued talking about
*hazing”, and he desonbed it as: “Initiation and stuff like that”,

Your affiant subsequently served search warrants on social media accounts beiongmg to participants
in this investigation. Your affiant found the foiiowmg

Michael Balichik's Facebook records had a group chat that included the following individuals from this
investigation who were current Mount Carmei High School football players: Damon Dowkus; Reed
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Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #4; juvenile victim #4; Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3.
There were also other individuals in this chat who were alumni and past football players. Starting on
9/25/2020, there was a conversation of note, Juvenile perpetrator #4 said: “anyone have anything we
can use to punk the new kids”. Juvenile perpetrator #3 sent a reply. However, the records showed that
the message was removed by sender on 10/24/2020. 1t should be noted that the Mt. Carmel Township
Police (Officer Carnuccio) obtained a search warrant and seized juvenile perpetrator #3's phone on
10/24/2020 and the football season had been canceled at this point due to this incident. Additional
messages from juvenile perpetrator #3 were also removed by sender. A male told juvenile perpetrator

" #3: ‘| have some”, This male said: ‘| only have like 6", This male then sent a photo of someone's
hand holding 7 punk sticks. '

Tyler Owens’ Snapchat records showed that he communicated with his girlfriend on 10/13/2020.
Owens wrote his girifriend-and talked about going to jdil over this investigation. He concluded: “It's
gonna be a lot bc he had to go to hospital”. When she asked who, Owens said: “(juvenile victim #5's
nickname).” The female asked Owens what did he do to this victim, and Owens said: "Reed burned
him with a sparkler’: Owens said this about the juvenile victim #5: I saw his burns they were bad...At
least second degree why don't you try sticking a metal sparkler to your-ass until it burns out”. The
female asked: “..why do that the punks should've been enough. What all did you do to everyone”.
Owens said: “] only used punks”. The female then asked: “Okay who all used sparklers”. Owens
responded: Reed’

Tyler Owens’ Facebook records were reviewed and the following evidence was found. On
10/24/2020, there was messaging between Owens and a male. Owens told this male that the police
came to his house and took his phone “over this hazing shit”. This male asked: "Are u gon get caught
up w hazing?” Owens responded: “Nah dowk reed and (uvenile perpetrator #1)", Owens added:
“Reed and dowk are both 18 too they’ll get adult charges and will be on meghans law”.

The victims each descnbed what they observed and what happened to them. The victims were: #1,
#2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #7,#8, and #89; 7 of the victims were juveniles at the time of the incidents, and two
were adults. Your affiant learned that the first incident occurred on 9/23/2020 at team captain Reed
Witkoski's house. - The football watch party.involved watching video of the previous week's game.
Starters, including new starters, and seniors were invited, There were statements made that the three
team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, did the inviting either in
person or through a chat.’ There was food and soft drinks, plus a TV, set up in the Witkoski's garage.
The players would have the party in the garage while the parents were inside the Witkoski house. This
date was on a Wednesday, and people started showing up at around 6:30 pm.

Also on 9/23/2020, something happened when the game reached halftime. The team captains,
Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1 told all of the players in the garage to go
outside and go to the rear of the Witkoski house. Team captains Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus and
Juvenile perpetrator #1, and starters Tyler Owens, juvenile perpetrator #3, and Michael Balichik were
identified as telling the new starters to pull down their pants. The victims' buttocks were exposed. The
following starters and captains burned the vnc’ums with lit punk sticks on the victims' buttocks: Reed
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Witkoski; Damon Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3; Tyler Owens; juvenile perpetrator #4;
Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrator #2; and juvenile perpetrator #5. The people who were burned on
this date were victims: - #2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #8, and #9. The players returned to the garage to finish
watching the game, and then they left,

A second incident occurred the following Wednesday, 9/30/2020. The Witkaski's hosted a second
football watch party at their house. This was the same scenario as the 9/23/2020 party. The players
were in the garage, and the same parents were Inside of the house. At halftime, everyone was told to
go outside to the back area. The new starters were told to pull down their pants, exposing their
buttocks. The team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, and starter
Tyler Owens, used lit punk sticks and/or a sparkier to burn victims #5, #1 and #7.

The victims said that they were "new starters” on the team. They indicated that their burning on their
buttocks, as well as other areas, by the team captains and older starters with Iit punks and sparklers
was an “initiation” as new starters on the football team,

Concerning Reed Witkoski, the victims said what Witkoski did on both 9/23/2020 and 9/30/2020 at
the hazing Incidents, [n regards to 9/23/2020, the following was said. Victim #2 said Witkoski pulled out
punks and handed them to juvenile perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, and #5. Victim #3 said the same thing
except he also included Tyler Owens being handed a punk by Reed Witkoski. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski and Damon Dowkus passed a lighter around to light the punk sticks. Victim #5 sald the
captains were lighting the punks on this date. Victim #3 also said Witkoski had a punk in his hand on
this date. Victim #4 said he saw Witkoski and Dowkus with punks right before he got burned on his
exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #3 said that he observed Witkoski, as well as eight
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 also said that he saw Witkoski, as
well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with it punks on the victims’ buttocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Witkoski, as well as Dowkus and juvenile perpetrator #1, as burning him
on his buttocks with lit punks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 stated that Witkoskl burned him with a punk, and
Witkoski also burned victims #3, #9, and #5 on 9/23/2020, When the burning was over, Witkoski said:
“What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” This was verified by the victims #2, #3, #5, #8,
and #6. Victim #4 said that Witkoski said: “Nothing leaves here!” Victim #2 said that Witkoski used the
word: “Initiation.” According to victim #5, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 apologized to him in
person. Victim #6 said that; in person and In school, Witkoski made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning Reed Witkoskj and his activity on 9/30/2020, the following was said. Victim #5 said that
Witkoski said: “Alright, who's first?” Victim #7 said Witkoski had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 salid that
both Witkoski and Dowkus were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 said he observed Witkoski,

Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski burned victim #5 with a sparkler, Victim #4 said that Witkoskj held victim #5's arm while
Dowkus burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Witkoski also said: “What happens here stays here, don't say.
anything.” Victims #7 and #5 verified this. Victim #1 said that Witkoski burned. the victim #7 with a

punk. Victim #1 also said Witkoski held victim #7 while he was being burmed. Victim #1 also said that
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Witkoski burned him with a punk and also held victim #1 s arm while he was being bumned. Victim #1
also stated that Witkoski burned the victim #5 for the second week in & row. :

Concerning Damon Dowkus, the following was said as to Dowkus' activity at the 9/23/2020 hazing
incident. Victims #2 and #3 stated that Dowkus also pulled out punks and handed them to juvenile
‘perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, #5, and Tyler Owens. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus and Witkoski passed
a lighter around to light the punks. Victim #5 said the captains were lighting the punks. Victims #3, #8,
and #9 said Dowkus had a punk in his hand. Victim #4 said he saw Dowkus and Witkoski with punks
right before he got burned on his exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #4 also said that
Dowkus burned him on the back of his leg as he was coming into the garage after getting burned on his
buttocks, Victim #4 also said Dowkus burned victims #3 and #5. Victim #3 said that he observed
Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he
observed Dowkus, as well as 8 others, bum the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Dowkus, Witkoski, and juvenile perpetrator #1 as holding
punks and buming him on his buttocks with the punks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Dowkus burned him -
with a punk and also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. Victims #2, #3, #5, #9, and #6 said Dowkus
said: “What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” Victims #2 and #5 said Dowkus used the
word “initiation”. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus burned him on the leg about 10 minutes after the
initiation when he got burned on his buttocks. . Victim #3 said that Dowkus burned him on the neck in the
garage after the initiation on 9/23/2020. Victim #4 said that Dowkus said: “Nothing leavés herel”
According to the victim #2, after the authorities got involved, Dowkus and his sister called victim #2 and
told him to say that he voluntaniy got burned and it was his choice. Victim #6 said that, in person and in
school, Dowkus made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the following was stated as to Damon Dowkus'
activity, Victim #5 said that Dowkus and Witkoski were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 saw Damon
Dowkus, Reed Witkoski, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Tyler Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7.
Victim #8 also said Dowkus used a punk to burn the victim #5. Victims #2, #9, and #4 said they
observed Dowkus burn the victim #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victims #5 and #6 said they
observed Dowkus burn victim #1 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victim #1 said Dowkus burned victim #7
with a punk on 9/30/2020 and Dowkus also held victim #7 while he was getting burned. Victim #1 also
said that Dowkus said his punk ran out, and he was handed a sparkler and burned victim #1 with the
sparkler. Victims #1 and #6 said that Dowkus also held victim #1's arms while he was being bumed.
Also, according to victim #1, Dowkus told victim #1 that he was the only one who "took it like a man.”
Victims #1, #5, and #4 stated that victim #5 was burned a second week In a row for revenge because he
victim #5 was talking to a giri that Dowkus liked. Victims #3 and #5 also said that Dowkus decided that
victim #5 would be burned a second week in a row on 9/30/2020: they would tell him they pulled his
name from a hat, but they really did not do that;-they just did not like him. Dowkus then burned victim
#5 with a sparkler. Victim #1 also identified Dowkus as burning victim #5 for the second week in a row.
Victim #4 said that Dowkus told victim #5 that every year, someone gets picked to go twice, According
to the victim #8, in October, a week after the second hazing incident, Dowkus toid teammates: “...lIf we
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go down, we go down altogether.” Victim #5 also stated that Dowkus sent him a Snap Chat message
apologizing for what happened.

The following was said as to juvenile perpetrator #1's activity at the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Victims #3, #8, and #9 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 had a punk in his hand, Victim #5 said the
captains were lighting the punks. Victim #3 sald he observed juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burned the victims #2, #3 #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6
identified juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, and Witkoski as burning him on his buttocks with punks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Juveniie perpetrator #1 also burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020, as well as
the victims #3, #9, and #5. Also, the victims #2, #3, and #5 said juvenile perpetrator #1 said: “What
happens here stays here, don’t say anythung " Victim #2 also smd juvenile perpetrator #1 used the
word: “Initiation.”

Concerning juvenile perpetrator #1’s activity during the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the
~_following was stated. Victim #8 said that he saw juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, Witkoski and Owens
burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned the victim #5 with a
sparkler. Victim #1 sa|d juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victims #1 and #7 with a punk on 9/30/2020.
Victim #1 also said that juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victim #5 for the secand week in a row. Victim #5
said that Juvenile perpetrator #1 and Witkoski apologized to him later in person.

The following was stated as to Tyler Owens’ activity during the first hazing incident on 9/23/2020.
Victims #8, #9, and #3 said Owens had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 observed Owens, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he saw Owens, as weli as 8
others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020, Victim #2
said Owens burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020, After victim #2 was burned, Owens also bumed the
victims #3, #0, and #5. The victim #5 said that both Tyler Owens and juvenile perpetrator #3 told him
that they were both burned with punks as an initiation prev:ously

Concerning Tyler Owens’ activity at the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the followmg was
stated. Victim #8 said he saw Owens, Dowkus, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 burn victims #1,
#5, and #7. .

There were also statements provided concerning juvenile perpetrator #3's activity during the first
hazing incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 was handed a punk from Witkoski
and Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 sald juvenile perpetrator #3 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 said
juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim
#5 sald that juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with
punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 burned him with a punk on
9/23/2020. After victim #2 was burned, he said juvenile perpetrator #3 also burned the victims #3, #9,
and #5. Victim #5 also said that juvenile perpetrator #3 and Owens told him that they were both burned
with punks as an initiation previously. ‘

AOPC A12A - Rev., 7/1_8 = o B Page /_ of/_y’

df




1211212022 13:35 WILLIAM COLE MAGISTRATE (FAX)5703394433 P.011/018

485 POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTNIleeScan Number - fcon ”pi’ jntiincident:Numbe
1810896001 e
3 First: Middle: Last:

DAMON DANIEL DOWKUS

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #4's activity during the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Victim #3 said juvenile perpetrator #4 had a punk in his hand on 9/23/2020. Victim #3 said he also saw
juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5
‘said he observed juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9
with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 burned h:m with a
punk on 9/23/2020. After victim #2 was burned juvenile perpetrator #4 also burned the victims #3, #9,
and #5, according to victim #2.

Concerning Michael Balichik, there were also statements made as to his activity at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020. Victims #3 and #9 said Balichik had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 also said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, bured the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Balichik burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 also sa:d that, aﬂer
he was burned, Balichik also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. ‘

There were also statements made concerning juvenile perpetrator #2's activity at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #2 was handed a punk from Witkoski and
Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 sald juvenile perpetrator #2 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 also said
juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said
that juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on /2372020, Victim #2 said that juvenile perpetrator #2 burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020.
Victim #2 also said that, after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #2 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #5's activity on 9/23/2020 at the first hazing incident.
Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #5 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus. Victim #3 said that
juvenile perpetrator #5 had a punk in his hand én 9/23/2020. Victim #3 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as well
as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator 5, as
well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2
said that juvenile perpetrator #5 burned the victim #2 with a punk on 9/23/2020. The victlm #2 also said that,
after he was burned Jjuvenile perpetrator #5 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

The following is a list of the victims and who burned them, based on statements made:

1. Victim #1: was burned by Damon Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on
9/30/2020 :

2. Victim #2: was bumed by Damon Dowkus Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

3. Victim #3: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and byjuvenlle
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.
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4, Victim #5: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michae) Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
-perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020. He was also burned on 9/30/2020 by Damon Dowkus,

juvemie perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens.

w

perpetrators #1, #2 #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

Victim #8: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik Reed Witkoski, and by ;uvemle

6. Victim #7: was burned by Damon Dowkus juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on

+9/30/ 2020

~

perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on §/23/2020.

Victim #4; was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile

8. Victim #6: was burned by Damen Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile

perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

9. Victim #9: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile

perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5-on 9/23/2020.

The following is a list of the perpetrators and who they burned, based on statements made by the victims:

1. Damon Dowkus: burned victims #2, #3, #5, 48, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a. punk, and victims #1 and #5 wrth a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

2. Reed Witkoskl: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

3. Juvenile perpetrator #1: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on -
9/23/2020. He also burned victims #7 and #1 W|th a punk, and victim #5 with a sparkier on

9/30/2020.
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT &
COUNTY-OF:NORTHUMBERLAND COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number; 08-2-01 lersa VS,
MDJ: Hon, William Cole , DEFENDANT (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 150 S. Market Street _REED - : . _HENRY. _WITKOSKI
Mount Catimel, PA 17851 " Flrst Name iiodis Name Last Name Cie
: 212 Montana Drive, Kulpmont, PA 17834
Telephone- (5?0)339 2140 " DEFENDANT NEEDS PROCESSING _
B T T A NOTG Exradiion CoBs TyRe. - I e oS
D 1¥elony Full ’ D 5- Fetony Pendmg Bxtradition ] C-Misdemeanor Surrounding Stales [_-_1 Distance: -
(J 2-Felony Limited 1 6-Felony Pending Extradition Dsterm. [ O-Misdemeanor No Extradition ,
[ 8-Felony Surrounding Stales [0 A-Misdemeanor Full - [0 E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradilion
{0 4-Felony o Extradition O B-Mlsdemeanor Limited ‘ E{ F-Mlsdameanor Psnuing Extradition
R T e T T DEFENDANT IDENTIFTCATION INFORMATION 1 e oo e STy P R ST g
Docket Number Date Fifed OTN/LiveScan Number’ Gomp!alnt!}ncldent.anbar . Raquest Lab
é' 12 10520254 R 34A133-K BCC200407 RYES CINO |
GENDER pos 05/13/2002 | poB | adwivoB [/ [/ Go-Defendant(s) &
X Mata First Neme Middle Name | Last Name Gen,
{1 Femsle AKA _
L s Matie Ametinn ] ket
[Clery@ray)  [IRED RawAven) — [Jsoy (Sandy) [l BLU (Bhie) L eLE (Purple) - B BRO (Brown)
Harr  Cleix Blac) " [JONG (orange) [T wHI pale) [ XXX unksBald) [ GRN (Greon) O PNK (Ping
ey (B]ondeI'SIrasvbsrry)
Eya [ BLK (Black) © Oew@Euwe . BROEGown) UlGRN(Grean) - I GRY (Gray)
Golor [ JHAZ {Hazel) I MAR (Maroen) .} PNK Pink) . 73 MUL QMuiticalored) L3 XX (Unknown)
DNA’ - ] YES [ NO | DNA Laeation WEIGHT (Ibs.)
FBI Number T | MNU Number .
Defendant Fingerprinted | (I YES & NO . Ft. HEIGHT In,
Fingerprint Classification: | » . : _ o B [ 7
' DEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION -
State | Haz Reglstration Comm’l-Veh. Scheol Veh, | Ofh, NCIG Veh, Cade Rag.
Plate # ngt. Sticker J— lnd: I | O ‘ ;aom:f.
VIN ‘ Year | Wake -} Model v Style Color 0o

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealt‘n {J Approved [ Dlsapproved begause;

{The atterney for the Gommonwealih rnay Tequire thal the complatnt, afiast wWarrar aﬁ{damt. or both be approved hy the attorney for the Commonwealth prior
" tofifing. See Pa.R.Cim.F, 507). .

| Jw}gt M. BCMEVJ%* S DAL , (2]4]2022
{Nams ot ihe aitornsy fof ihe Cammerwesih) allamey for the Comnwav/ea {Dais)
I,_S. A, DAVID SCICCHITANO = | 595
(Name of the Afflam) » R . _ ' (PSPfMPGETO ~-Assigned Affiant 1D Number & Badge #
o sylvani e of Attorney General. - ___PAD222400
(Identily Depariment or Agancy Represented and Political Subdivision) (Police Agency ORI Number)

da hereby state: (cheok appropriate box)*
1. ) accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth abavs
[ Faccuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

D } accuse the defendant whose name ancl poputar des:gnation or nickname are unknown to me and whom l hava
therefore desianated as John Doe or Jane Dee
- with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Perinsylvania at 52 10} 212 Montana Drive, Mount Carmel
PRESPolticar Sypawsion]

Township, Kulpmont, Pa 17834 . (Supdwsion Cedey . { Sh a »g 13«5»3!1

in NORTHUMBERLAND  [49] * onorabout 09/23/2020 AND 08/30/2020
County (County Gods) __
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The acts commifted by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly Violated, if appropriate.

When there is more than one offense, sach offense should be numbered chronologically,

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise ihe defendant of the nature of the offense(s} charged. A ¢itation to'the statute(s) allegedly viofated,
without more, i not sufficient. in a summary ease, you must cite the specific section|s) and subsection{s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s) allegedly violated,
The age of the victim at the time of the offcnse may be inclided if known. In addition, sacial security numbers and financial Information (e,g, PINs) shotld not
be listed, if the identity of an account must ke established, list only the iast four diglts. 204 PA.Code §§ 213,1 ~213.7.) . . .

O Attempt - L] solieitation {1 Gonspiracy Number of Vietms Age 60 or Otder §
18901 A 188024 18803 '

B R R RS TRS 2 4 RATES ; B T
PAS@sta (Tile) | Counts Grade CI%g;f: nse UCRANIBRS Cote
(7 Interstate ] Safety Zone [J Work Zone

-

o BT A el A LA 78 e N 3 i
Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): PATITLE 18 SECTION 2701(A)(1): SIMPLE ASSAULT

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: Defendant, on the above dates and at the above location, attempted to cause or Intentionally,
knowingly or recklessly caused badily injury to another, To wit: defendant intantionally burned nine different male victims onthejr bare buttods with a lit

"punk” stick and/or sparkler, causing the victims pain from these burns; seven of the victims suffered scarring as a result. ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR
SECOND DEGREE, -

HOAE o [ Attempt [0 solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older 0
i 18902 A 18903

i

B

Lead?  Offensef Subsection " A Statne (Tie)  Gounts Grade . NCIC Otfense UCR/NIBRS Code
e R ey | ™ [ ' ' '
bt c e A idEnt NGB el inte Safety Zone Work Zone
RapRti g s Nmbed O3 interstate D safety o

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): PA TITLE 18 SECTION 4952(A)(1): INTIMIDATION OF WITNESSES OR
VICTIMS o , '

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: Defendant, on the above dates and at the above location, with the intent to or with the
knowledge that his conduct will ebstruct, Impede, impair, prevent or interfere with the administration of criminal justice, he Intimidates or attempts to
intimidate any witness or victim to refrain from Informing or reporting to any law enforcement officer, prosecuting officlal or judge concerning any information,
document ar thing refating to the commiseion of a érime, To wit: after committing the crires of Simple Assault and Razing, the defendant {old the victims:
“"What happens here, stays here...Don't say anything..Nothing leaves here.” ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR SECOND DEGREE:

syinchoatey O Atempt D3 soliitaion | [J Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older O

R et

Statute

‘ ‘ [ interstate © [ Safety Zone - I Work Zone
& of statute or ordinance): PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2802(A)(3): HAZING

Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense; Defendant, on the above dates and at the above location, Intentionally, krowingly or recklessly,
for the purpose of initizting, admitting or affilating a minor or student into or with an organization, or for tha purpose of continuing or enhancing a minor or
student's membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor or student to endure brutality of a physlcal nature, induding branding,
Towit: the defendant and eight other co-defendants initiated nine male vicims as "new starters” on the Mt. Carmel Area High School Eothall Team,; the
victims were made to pull down their pants and expose their bare buttocks; the victims were each bumed on their bare buttocks with a Jit "punk” stick and/or
sparkler, causing burng and pain to all nine victims; saven of the victims sustained scarring as a result. ONE COUNT—MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.

. . 0 N
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2 { ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be Issued and that the defendant be requlred to answer the charges | have
made. ,

3, lverify that the facts set forth In this complamt are true and correct to the best of my knowledge of information and
belief, This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S, § 4904) relating
to unsworn faisaﬂcation 10 authorities.

4, This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 th'rough‘ [5

8. | certify that this filing complies with the brows»ohs of the Case Records Fubli¢c Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidentlal
Information and documents. -

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth -
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in viclation of the statutes cited,
{Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn to before the

issuiny authority, and attached.)
%/ /%.

: ] ‘ _
ﬂ ceem b’e{\ 6- ) (Yean) ;l 09’9'\ : ' Slgnature of Affiant)

AND NOW, on this date {d~12— )..‘{ | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.

(Date)

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued,

{Magistetial District Court Number) % Agnﬁt ) 2 : |
) . ? g SEAL i
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AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

- On 10/6/2020, Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Daniel Politza was assngned to a complaint
from the Northumberland County Children & Youth, This complaint was conceming a Child Line referral
that was received from a mandated reporter. This referral was regarding a possible hazing incident
involving the Mount Carmel Area High School football players. It was reported that players were burned
by punks (a burning stick usually used to keep bugs away) and sparklers on their buttocks. Juvenile
victim #1 was reportedly burned by other football players.

Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Brian Carnuccio, who is also the School Resource Officer for

. the High School, took over the investigation and followed up on the complaint. Officer Carmnuccio stated
he learned that the incident in which juvenile victim #1 was burned on his buttocks with punks and
sparklers occurred on Wednesday, 9/30/2020, at football team captain Reed Witkosk!'s residence in
Northumberland County at 212 Montana Drlve Mount Carmel Township, Kulpmont, PA. Officer
Carnuccio learned that seniors and new starters were invited to watch game footage from the week
before at the Witkoski's house as part of a “football watch party”. Officer Carnuccio observed a ptcture
of the burns on juvenile victim #1's buttocks.

Officer Carnuccio met with the parents of additional juvenile victims: #2 and #3. He obtained
photos of burn marks that they sustained as a result of the initiation. He saw that juvenile victim #2 was
burned on his buttocks and juvenile victim #3 was burned on the back of his neck.

Officer Carnuccio indicated that there was little to no amount of cooperation in his investigation from
the parents of other victims. He said he reached out to about 20 parents. Officer Camuccio also said-
he learned that the perpetrators were the team captains: Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile
perpetrator #1. Also, he learned that other perpetrators may have been Tyfer Owens, and juvenile
perpetrator #2. Juvenile perpetrator #3 and Michael Balichik were also present.

In addition to having photos of the burn marks sustained by the juvenile victims #1, 2, and 3, Officer
Carnuccio had copies of two social media posts from Instagram. They were photos of Reed Witkoski
and juvenile victim #4 posing together. On the bottom, it read: “No Asses were harmed In the making
of this post™, and “reedwitkoski",

On 10/23/2020, Officer Carnuccio obtained search warrants and he seized the following footbali
players’ cell phones on 10/24/2020: Reed Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #1; Tyler Owens, Damon
Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #2 and 3; and Michael Balichik. These were older players whom he
identified as being present during the incidents and they were not burned. On 10/30/2020, these cell

phones were taken to the Pennsylvania State Police Bureau of Criminal investigations Computer Crime
Unit for analysis.

The head footbaﬂcoach for the Mount Carmel Area High School foothall team was John Darrah,
Darrah stated he learned of the Child Line complaint about hazing through a meeting with Officer
Carnuccio and the athletic director, Greg Sacavage. Darrah sald he saw a picture of someone with an
injury and he could tell it was serious. Practices were canceled and the schoo! board was notifled.
Darrah said there was a team meeting on that Thursday night and the players were given until noon on
that Friday to come in and tell what had happened. Darrah said no one came in, so they canceled the
game that was supposed to be on that Saturday. Darrah subsequently met with juvemle victim #1. He
learned that the football watch parties occurred, and juvenile victim #1 went to one on 9/30/2020, when
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he and other victims were burned with punks and sparklers by older members of the football team.

Darrah said that, after speaking with juvenile vrctrm #1 and belng provided a list of victims, he filed a
Child Line report.

- Darrah then met with juvenile victim #2 and his parents. Juvenile victim #2 also related to him that
he was a victim of being burned. Darrah also said that juvenile victim #2 told him that Damon Dowkus
called him from his sister's phone and told him: “You can tell people that you were here, but don’t tell
them...you didn’t know you were going to be burned before you came.” Darrah sald juvenile victim #2
said he was blindfolded, asked to pull his pants down, and he was burned. Darrah said that juvenile
victim #2 also had a severe burn on his leg. Darrah said juvenile victim #2 provided names of victims
and perpetrators.

Darrah also stated that he met with juvenile victim #3 at his house. Juvenile victim #3 would not tell
him anything at that time, but he came to Darrah’s office that following Monday and spoke to Darrah.
Juvenile victim #3 told him he was burned on the neck.

Darrah said he tried to speak to other players, but they would not cooperate. At some point, the
school's investigation ended with the rest of the football season being canceled.

On 10/30/2020, Northumberland County District Attorney Anthony Matulewicz referred this case to
the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General. On 11/13/2020, your affiant, Special Agent David
Scicchitano from the Bureau of Criminal Investigations, was assigned to this case and took over this
investigation. Your affiant obtained and reviewed the files from Mount Carmel Township Police Officer
Brian Carnuccio. On 2/18/2021, after receiving the results back on the cell phories that were searched,
your affiant started to review this information.

Juvenile perpetrator #2 had messaging on his phone which inoluded conversations with his mother
and father. His mother questioned him on 10/12/2020 as to.why Officer Carnuccio was trying to reach
her and if it was about the "hazing thing.” On 10/15/2020, his father wanted to know if juvenite
perpetrator #2 wanted to know “who ratted on the team.” Juvenile perpsetrator #2 responded: "Ya.”

Tyler Owens' phone had a chat on it between Owens and a female identified as his girifriend. On
10/7/2020, Owens wrote: "We're gonna be in s0 much trouble we think someone snitched about the
punks at reeds”, Owens wrote: “...someone snitched.. . (juvenile victim 1’s name) without a doubt”,
When the female asked about what was snitched on, Owens said: “Burning their asses with punks at
reeds’. Owens also said, “...we're getting arrested.” When the fémale asked why, Owens responded:
"Hazing." On 10/9/2020, Owens continued his ¢chat with this female. He continued talking about
“hazing”, and he described it as: “Initiation and stuff like that”.

Your affiant subsequently served search warrants on social media accounts belonging to partic:lpants
in this investigation, Your afﬂant found the following. :

Michael Balichik's Facebook records had a group chat that included the following individuals from this
investigation wha were current Mount Carmel High School football players: Damon Dowkus; Reed
Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #4; juvenile victim #4; Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3.
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There were also other individuals In this chat who were alumni and past football players. Starting on
9/25/2020, there was a conversation of note. Juvenile perpetrator #4 said: “anyane have anything we
can use to punk the new kids". Juvenile perpetrator #3 sent a reply. However, the records showed that.
the message was removed by sender on 10/24/2020. It should be noted that the Mt. Carmel Township
Police {Officer Carnuccio) obtained a search warrant and seized juvenile perpetrator #3’s phone on
10/24/2020 and the football season had been canceled at this point due to-this incident. Additional
messages from juvenile perpetrator #3 were also removed by sender. A male told juvenile perpetrator
#3: " have some". ‘This male said: “| only have like 6”. This male then sent a photo of someone's
hand holding 7 punk sticks.

Tyler Owens’ Snapchat records showed that he communicated with his girlfriend on 10/13/2020.
Owens wrote his girlfriend and talked about going to Jail over this investigation. He concluded: -“it's
gonna be a lot be he had to go to hospital”. When she asked who, Owens said: "“(juvenile victim #5's
nickname).” The female asked Owens what did he do to this victim, and Owens said: “Reed burned
him with a sparkler”. Owens sald this about the juvenile victim #5: “| saw his burns they were bad,. At
least second degree why don't you fry sticking a metal sparkiér to your ass until it burns out”. The
female asked: “..why do that the punks should've been enough. What all did you do to everyone”.
Owens said: ‘I only used punks”. The female then asked: “Okay who all used sparklers”. Owens
responded: “Reed”. |

Tyler Owens’ Facebook records were reviewed and the following evidence was found. On-
1012412020, there was messaging between Owens and a male. Owens told this male that the police
came to his house and took his phone “over this hazing shit”. This male asked: “Are u gon get caught
up w hazing?” Owens responded:; "Nah dowk reed and (juvenile perpetrator #1)". Owens added;
“Reed and dowk are both 18 too they'll get aduit charges and will be on meghans law”.

The victims each described what they observed and what happened to them. The victims were: #1,
#2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, and #9; 7 of the victims were juveniles at the time of the incidents, and two
were adults. Your affiant learned that the first incident occurred on 9/23/2020 at team captain Reed
Witkoski's house. The football watch party invoived watching video of the previous week's game.
Starters, including new starters, and seniors were invited. There were statements made that the three
team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, did the inviting either in
person or through a chat, There was food and soft drinks, plus a TV, set up in the Witkoski's garage.:
The players would have the party in the garage while the parents were inside the Witkoski house. This
date was on a Wednesday, and people started showing up at around 6:30 pm.

Also on 9/23/2020, something happened when the game reached halftime. The team captains,
Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1 told all of the players in the garage to go
outside and go to the rear of the Witkoski house, Team captains Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus and
juvenile perpetrator #1, and starters Tyler Owens, juvenile perpetrator #3, and Michael Balichik were
identified as telling the new starters to pull down their pants., The victims’ buttocks were exposed. The
following starters and captains.bumed the victims with it punk sticks.on the victims' buftocks: Reed
Witkoski; Damon Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3; Tyler Owens; juvenile perpetrator #4;
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Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrator #2; and juvenile perpetrator #5, The peépie who were burned on
this date were victims: #2, #3, #4, #5, #6 #8, and #9. The players returned to the garage to finish
watching the game, and then they left,

A second incident occurred the followmg Wednesday, 9/30/2020. The Witkoski's hosted a second
football watch party at their house. This was the same scenario as the 9/23/2020 party. The players
were in the garage, and the same parents were inside of the house. At halftime, everyone was told to
go outside to the back area. The new starters were told to pull down their pants, exposing their
buftocks, The team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, and starter
Tyler Owens, used lit punk sticks and/or a sparkler to burn victims #5, #1 and #7.

The victims said that they were "new starters” on the team. They indicated that thelr burning on their
buttocks, as well as other areas, by the team captains and older starters with lit punks and sparklers
was an “initiation” as new starters on the football team.

: Concerning Reed Witkoski, the victims said what Witkoski did on both 9/23/2020 and 9/30/2020 at
the hazing incidents. In regards to 9/23/2020, the following was said. Victimi #2 said Witkoski pulled out
punks and handed them to juvenile perpetrators #3,#1, #2, #4, and #5, Victim #3 sald the same thing
except he also.included Tyler Owens being handed a punk by Reed Witkoski. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski and Damon Dowkus passed a lighter around to light the punk sticks. Victim #5 said the
captains were lighting the punks on this date. Vietim #3 also said Witkoski had a punk in his hand on
this date. Victim #4 said he saw Witkoski and Dowkus with punks right before he got burned on his
exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #3 sald that he observed Witkoski, as well as eight
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 also said that he saw Witkosk|, as

"well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with lit punks on the victims' buttocks on .
9/23/2020, Victim #6 identified Witkoski, as well as Dowkus and juvenile perpetrator #1, as burning him
on his buttocks with lit punks on 8/23/2020. Victim #2 stated that Witkoski burned him with a punk, and
Witkoski also burned victims #3, #9, and #5 on 9/23/2020. When the burning was over, Witkoski said:
“What happens here stays here, don’t say anything.” This was verified by the victims #2, #3, #5, #8,
and #6. Victim #4 said that Witkoski said: “Nothing leaves herel” Victim #2 said that Witkoski used the
word: “Initiation.” According to victim #5, Witkoski-and juvenile perpetrator #1 apologized to him in
person. Victim #6 said that, in person and in school, Witkoski made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning Reed Witkoski and his activity on 9/30/2020, the following was said. Victim #5 said that
Witkoski said: “"Alright, who's first?” Victim #7 said Witkoski had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 said that
' both Witkoski and Dowkus were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 said he observed Witkoski,
Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Victim #4 said that Witkoski held victim #6's arm while
Dowkus burned vietim #5 with a sparkler. Witkoski also said: “What happens here stays here, don't say
anything.” Victims #7 and #5 verified this. Victim #1 said that Witkoskl burned the victim #7 with a
punk. Victim #1 also said Witkoski held victim #7 while he was being burned. Victim #1 also said that
Witkoski burned him with a punk and also held victim #1's arm while he was being burned. Victim #1
also stated that Witkoski burned the victim #5 for the seécond week in a row.
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Concerning Damon Dowkus,.the following was said as to Dowkus' activity at the 9/23/2020 hazing
incident. Victims #2 and #3 stated that Dowkus also pulled out punks and Handed them to juvenile
perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, #5, and Tyler Owens. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus and Witkoski passed
a lighter around to light the punks. Victim #5 said the captains were lighting the punks. Victims #3, #8,
and #9 sajd Dowkus had a punk in his hand. Victim #4 said he saw Dowkus and Witkoski with punks
right before he got burned on his exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #4 also said that
Dowkus burned him on the back of his leg as he was coming into the garage after getting burned on his
buttocks. Victim #4 also sald Dowkus burned victims #3 and #5. Victim #3 said that he observed
Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he
observed Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Dowkus, Witkoski, and juvenile perpetrator #1 as holding
punks and burning him on his buttocks with the punks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Dowkus burned him
with a punk and also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. Victims #2, #3, #5, #9, and #6 said Dowkus
* said: "What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” Victims #2 and #5 sald Dowkus used the
- word “initiation”. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus burned him on the leg about 10 minutes after the
initlation when he got burned on his buttocks. Victim #3 said that Dowkus burned him on the neck in the
garage after the initiation on 9/23/2020. Victim #4 said that Dowkus sald: “Nothing leaves here!” ,
According to the victim #2, after the authorities got involved, Dowkus and his sister called victim #2 and
told him to say that he voluntarily got burned and it was his choice. Victim #6 said that In person and in
school, Dowkus made sure he kept his mouth shut,

Concemmg the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the following was stated as to Damon Dowkus'
activity. Victim #5 said that Dowkus and Witkoski were observed with sparklers, Victim #8 saw Damon
Dowkus, Reed Witkoski, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Tyler Owens bumn the victims #1, #5, and #7.
Victim #8 also said Dowkus used a punk to burn the victim #5. Victims #2; #9, and #4 said they
~ observed Dowkus burn the victim #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020, Victims #5 and #6 sald they
observed Dowkus burn victim #1 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020, Victim #1 said Dowkus burned victim #7
with a punk on 9/30/2020, and Dowkus also held victim #7 while he was getting burned. Victim #1 also
said that Dowkus said his punk ran out, and he was handed a sparkler and burned victim #1 with the
sparkler. Victims #1 and #6 said that Dowkus also held victim #1's arms while he was being burned.
Also, according to victim #1, Dowkus told victim #1 that he was the only one who “took it like a man.”
Victims #1, #5, and #4 stated. that victim #5 was burned a second week in a row for revenge because he
victim #5 was talking to a girl that Dowkus liked. Victims #3 and #5 also said that Dowkus decided that
victim #5 would be burned a second week in a row on 9/30/2020; they would tell him they pulled his
name from a hat, but they really did not do that; they just did not like him, Dowkus then burned victim
#5 with a sparkler. Victim #1 also identified Dowkus as burning victim #5 for the second week in a row.
Victim #4 sald that Dowkus told victim #5 that every year, someone gets picked to go twice.- According -
to the victim #8, in October, a week after the second hazing incidént, Dowkus told teammates: “...If we
go down, we go down altogsther.” Victim #5 also stated that Dowkus sent him a Snap Chat message
apologizing for what happened. -
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The following was said as to juvenile perpetrator #1's activity at the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Victims #3, #8, and #9 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 sald the
captains were lighting the punks. Victim #3 said he observed juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6
identified juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, and Witkoski as burning him on his buttocks with punks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 also burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020, as well as
the victims #3, #9, and #5. Also, the victims #2, #3, and #5 said juvenile perpetrator #1 said: “What
happens here stays here, don tsay anything Victim #2 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 used the
word: “Initiation.” ,

Concerning juvenile perpetrator #1’s activity during the second-hazing incldent on 9/30/2020, the
following was stated. Victim #8 sald that he saw juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, Witkoski and Owens
burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned the victim #5 with a
sparkler. Victim #1 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victims #1 and #7 with a punk on 9/30/2020.
Victim #1 also said that juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victim #5 for the second week in a row. Victim #5
said that juvenile perpetrator #1 and Witkoski apologized to him later in person,

The following was stated as to Tyler Owens’ activity during the first hazing |n<>|dent on 9/23/2020.
Victims #8, #9, and #3 said Owens had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 observed Owens, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he saw Owens, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2
sald Owens burned him with a punk on 8/23/2020. - After victim #2 was burned, Owens also burned the
victims #3, #9, and #5. The victim #5 sald that both Tyler Owens and juvenile perpetrator #3 told hlm

that they were both burned with punks as an initiation previously.

Caoncerning Tyler Owens' activity at the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the fo!lowmg' was
~ stated. Victim #8 said he saw Owens, Dowkus, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 burn wctlms #1,
#5, and #7. . ,

There were also statements provided concerning juvenile parpetrator #3's activity during the first
hazing incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 was handed a punk from Witkoski
and Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #3 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 said
juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim
#5 said that juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with
punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020 Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 burned him with a punk on
9/23/2020. After victim #2 was bumed, he said juvenile perpetrator #3 aiso burned the victims #3, #9,
and #5. Victim #5 also said that juvenile perpetrator #3 and Owens told him that they were both burned
with punks as an initiation previously.

There were statements made as to Jui/enile‘perpetrator #4's aciiv,ify during the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Vietim #3 said juvenile perpetrator #4 had a punk in his hand on 9/23/2020 Victim #3 said he also saw
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juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as others burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5
said he observed juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9
with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Juvenile perpetrator #4 burned him with a
punk on 9/23/2020. After vxc‘um #2 was bumed juvenite perpetrator #4 also bumed the victims #3, #9,
and #5, according to victim #2, ~

Concerning Michael Balichik, there were also statements made as tohis activity at the first hazing.
incident on 9/23/2020, Victims #3 and #9 said Balichik had a punk in his hand, Victim #3 also sald that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, bumned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on
9/23/2020, Victim #2 said Balichik burned him with & punk on 9/23/2020, Vnctlm #2 also said that, after
he was burned, Balichik also burned the wctsms #3, #9, and #5.

There were also statements made concerning juveniie perpetrator #2's actiwty at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 sald uvenile perpetrator #2 was handed a punk from Witkoski and
Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #2 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 also said
juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #5, #3, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said
that juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said that jwenileper;&etrgtor #2 burned him with a punk on 972372020,
Victim #2 also said that, after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #2 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5,

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #5's activity on 9/23/2020 at the first hazing incident.
Victlm #2 said juvenile perpetrator #5 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus. Victim #3 sald that
juvenile perpetrator #5 had a punk in his hand on 9/23/2020. Victim #3 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as well
as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as
well as 8 others, burned the victims 2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 8/23/2020. Victim #2
said that juvenile perpetrator #5 burned the victim #2 with a punk on 9/23/2020. The victim #2 also said that,
~after he was burned, juvenlle perpetrator #5 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

The following is a ist of the victims and who burned them, based on statements made:

1. Victim #1: was burned by Damon Dowkus, {uvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on
- 9/30/2020.

2. Victim #2: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski and by juvenile
perpetrators #1,82,#3, #4 and #5 on 9/29/2020

3. Victim #3: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Baixchlk Reed Witkoskl, and by juvenile
~ perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/ 23/2020 :
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4. Victim #5: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owe‘ns Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020. He was also burned on 9/30/2020 by Damon Dowkus,
juvenlle per;)etrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyier Owens,

5. Victim #8: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Bélichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

6. Victim #7: was burned by Damon Dowkus, juvemie perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyier Owens on
9/30/2020.

7. Victim #4: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

8. Victim #6: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
.perpetrators #1, #2,#3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

9. Victim #9: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michae) Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

The following is a list of the perpetrators and who they burned, based on statements made by the victims:

- 1. Damon Dowkus: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkleron 9/30/2020.

1

2. Reed Witkoski: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

3. Juvenile perpetrator #1. burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8 #4, #6 and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020. He also burned victims #7 and #1 thh a punk and victim #5 with a sparkler on
9/30/2020,

4. Tyler Owens: burned wc’ums #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020. He
also bumed victim #7, #1 and #5 with a punk on 9/30/2020
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5. Juvenile perpetrator #3: burned viCtIms #2, #3, #S #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020,

6. Juvenile perpetrator #2: burned victims #2, #3, 45, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

7. Michael Balichik: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 8/23/2020.

8. Juvenile perpétrator #5: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

9. lJuvenile perpetrator #4: burned victims #2, #3, 45, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

In addition to the original photos of their injuries that were taken within days of the incident, victims
#1 and #2 tater provided photos of their injuries that turned into scars which were cutrently present:
victim #1 on his buttocks, and #2 on his leg and buttocks, Your affiant also took photos of the rest of the
victims: #5; #7; #9; #6; and #4. As with #1 and #2, these victims all had prominent scarring on their
buttocks. Victim #8 was observed to not have any scarring; and victim #3 said he did not have scars.

Based on the above evidence, your affiant has probable cause to believe that the defendant Reed
Witkoski committed the following acts.

The defendant attempted to cause or intentionally, knowingly or recklessly caused Bodiiy injury to another
when he intentionally burned nine different male victims on their bare buttocks with a [t "punk” stick and/or
sparkler, causing the victims pain from these burns; seven of the victims suffered scarring as a result.

The defendant also, w!th the intent to or with the knowledge that his conduct will obstruct, impede, impair,
prevent or interfere with the administration of criminal justice, he intimidated or attempted to intimidate any
witness or.victim to refrain from informing or reporting to any law enforcement officer, prosecuting official or
judge concerning any inforrriation, document or thing relating to the commission of a ¢rime when, after
committing the crimes of Simple Assault and Hazing, the defendant told the victims: "What happeéns here, stays
here...Don't say anything...Nothing leaves here."”

The defendant also intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, for the purpose of initiating, admitting or affiliating a
minor or student into or W|th an organization, or for the purpose of continuing or enhancing a minor or student’s
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membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor or student to endure brutality of a
physical nature, including branding, when the defendant and eight-other co-defendants initiated nine male
victims as "new starters" on the Mt. Carmel Area High School Football Team; the victims were made to pull down
their pants and expose their bare buttocks; the victims were each burned on their bare buttocks with a lit “punk"

stick and/or sparkler, causing burns and pain to all nine victims; seven of the victims sustained scarring as a
result.

The affiant has probable cause to believe that the above information is truthful and correct,

I, 8. A. DAVID SCICCHITANO, BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TO THE LAW, DEPOSE AND SAY THAT THE
FACTS SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY
KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND BELIEF,

| CERTIFY THAT THIS FILING COMPLIES WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE CASE RECORDS PUBLIC ACCESS
POLICY OF THE UNIFIED JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF PENNSYLVANIA THAT REQUIRE FILING CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS DIFFERENTLY THAT NON-CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS,

At

(Signature of Affiant)

Sworn to me and subscribed before me this day of

[ A== 24 Date é ?@ é ‘é ',/ ' , Magisterial District Judge

My commissicn expires first Monday of January, ) cfa‘b{ .

SEAL
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRININAL COMPLA]NT
CQUNTY OFNORTHUMBERLAND COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number: 08-2-01 VS,
MDJ: Hon, William Cole | - DEFEN DANT ' (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 150 S, Market Street TYLER. : REFSE . QOWENS
Mount Carmel, PA 17851 - First Name HMiddle Name LeslNeme ‘ (’;,e
C ' 1343 Chestnut Street, Kulpmonit, PA 17834
Telephone (570)339 2140 DEFENDANT NEEDS PROCESSING .
ORI R S L B R i NOVG EXITACITON COBE RYPB - cin s nirsira o 1s oy 3y iy 8 L 7 o 13 A L G { i i o T
[:] 1~Felony Full ] ﬁ-Falony Pending Exiradiflon iy C-Mtsdemaanot Sutroundmg Stales O vistance:
1 2-Felony Limiled ‘[7] 6-Felony Pending Extradition Detern, [ D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
£ 3-Felony Surrounding States 1 A-Misdemeanar Fulf {1 8-Misdemaanor Pending Extradition
D 4—Feiony No E)dradt(:on . {] B-Misdemeanor Limited CI F-Misdemaanor Fendinq Extradﬂlan
NN e ST B T T T iy DEFENDANT iDENTlFlCATION INFORMATION B e T : R
Dosket Number Date Fligd OTNLIveScan Numbsr Complalnﬂlnc!dent Number ::?ﬁ::;;zb
R~ I2~087 20J4R 323M84-3 ROCO0040Z R YEs. DIno
GENDER poe 01/13/2002 | ros. ) [Addipos [ /[ Co-Defendant(s) &
Male C Flrst Name | Middle Name Last Nema Gen,
[} Female AKA
RACE Bd wnite Ulaglan Black Matlve Amertcan L1 Unknewn
W Hispanic < MonHispante - \nknown
L1 GRY (Gray) [IRep Redaubny ~ [IsoviSandy) = [JBLU@ls) [ PLE (Purpie) & BRO (Brown)
e Dewesk Do (omng) L W e (330 Uk /o) [ GRN (areen) [ PNK (Pinky
3 LN, (Blonde / Stewseny) “ .
Bye  [JBLK(Black) & BLU (Biue) (3 8RO (Broen) {3 GRN {Green) [ GRY (Gray)
Color  [JHAZ (Hezel) [ maR (Macoan) [T PK (Pink) {71 MUL (Multicalorsd) {73 XXX (Unknower)
| DNA_ F1YES [X NO | DNA Location ' ' R WEIGHT (ibs,)
FBT Number ISONSECPE . | MNY Nomber . 200
Defendant Fingerprinted | [1 YES [ NO , Ft. HEIGHT In,
Fingerprint Classification: L y ' 6 i)
. - "DEFENDAN] VEHICLE INFORMATION
' ‘ State | Haz Reglstratlon Camm'l Veh. School Veb, Oth. NCIC Veh, Code Reg.
Plate # : "E]'“ Sticker (mryy) [/ ind. [ -0 ) :sag;’
\iN .| Year | Make Mode! Style Calot ]

Office of the attornay for the Cormmonwealth [J Approved L] Disapproved because;

. (The attorney for the Commonweai!ﬁ may requrra that tha campiait, arrest warran ?!aawt, orbath Ba approved hy (he atomay faf the woramonwaaih priof

10 filing. See Pa.R,Crim.P. &07).
{2 6 2 .

Jusepl. WA Se piloe ot  SOKG
© (Namna of the allerney lor the Commionweai - {Dare)

1,_S. A, DAVID SCICCHITANO .59

(Name of the Affian) » o (PSP/MPOETC -Assignad Affiant ID Numbar & Badga ¥
Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General __ PA0222400

(ldennfy Department or Agency Representad and Pofltleal Subdlvision) {Police Agancy ORI Number) ,
do hereby state: (check appropriate box) -

1. B iaccuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above
3V acouse the defendant whosa hame is unkn0wn to me but who is descﬂbed as

O i accuse the defendantwhose name and popular dasignalion or nickname are unknOWn to me and whom | have;’
therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe

with violating the penai laws of the CommonWea!th of Pennsyivania at [210] 212 Montana Drive, Mount Carrnel
Township, Kulpmont, Pa 17834 . (SUBaNISIon TATe]— (FTRce-Powtieal STnavision

in NORTHUMBERLAND {49] 4 on or about 09/23/2020 AND 09/30/2020
County {County Cede) - : '
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The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly. or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.

" When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.
{Set forth a brief summary of the fagts sufﬂcrent 10 advise the defendant of the natwre of the offensa(s) charged, A citation 1o the statute(s) allegedly violatad,
without more, j5 not sufficlent, In a summary case, you must cite the speclfic section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s) altegedly vioiated.
The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be Included if known, In addition, sostal security numbers and financial information (e.g. PINs) should not
be listed. f the Identity of an atcount must ba established, list only the last four digltS. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 ~ 213.7. ) : .

| T Solicltation 3 Conspiracy Number of Vietims Age 60 or Older 0.
18802 A . 18 903

NCIC Oﬂense'

Cade UCRINIBRS Cods

PA Statute (Title) Counts © Grede

1 (nterstate O safety Zone 1 Work Zene

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; Defendant, on the above dates and at the above locat(on, intentionally, knowingly or reckiessly,
for the purpose of inltlating, admitting or affiilating a minor ar student into or with an organlzgtion, or for the purpose of continuing or enhancing a miner or -
student's membershlp or status in an orgenlzation, caused, cosrced of forced a minor or student to endure brutallty of a physical natyre, Including branding,
Towit: the defendant and eight other co-defendants initiated nine mae victims as “new starters” on the Mt, Carmel Area High School Football Team; the
victims were made to pull down thelr pants and expose their bare buttacks; the victims were each bumed on thelr bare buttocks with a it "punk” stick, ‘causing
burns and pain to all nine victims; seven of the victims sustained scarring as a result. ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.

[ Solicitation & conspiracy
18502 A- 18 803

Number of Victims Age 60 or Older 0

PA Statute {T'{le) Counts crade | NOIC Offense UCRANIBRS Code

Lead?  Offdnse# Secllon Code
; ecl 0 interstats ; [ safety Zone 3 Work Zone

-Statute D'escnption (include the name 6\' statite or ordinance): PA TITLE 18 SECTION 903(A)(1): CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY (70
COMMIT A VIOLATION OF PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2802(A)(3): HAZING)

Acts of the accused associated with this Offenss: Defendant, on the above dates and at the above location, with the intent of pmmot]ng or
facilitating its commission he agreed with such other person or persons that they or one or more of them will engage in conduct which ¢onstituted such ¢rime
or an gtiempt or solicitation 1o commit such crime. To witt' defendant, along with 8 co-defendants, Intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, for the purpose of
initiating, admitting or affiliating a minor or student Into or with an organization, or for the' purpose ‘of continuing gr enhanding 8 minor or student's
membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor or student to endure brutality of a physical nature, including branding, The
defendant and elght other co-defendants mltnated nme male vld:tms as "new staners" on the M, Carmei Area High School Footbai& Team; the vlctlms were

IR 1 attempt ] Solicitatlon: [7J Consplracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older @
18901 A 18 802 A 18 803 o

) “NEIC Offonss Coa
L 1 Interstate [ Safety Zone ] Work Zone

‘,--.

Statute Descripﬂon (lnclude the name of statute or ordlnance)‘

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense:

' ( : : - T ‘ "
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_ - OFFENSE CONTINUAT
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OFFENSE DESCRIPTION CONTINUATION

Offense # 2: A(continued) with a lit "punk” stick, causing burns and pain 1o all nine victims; seven of the victims
sustained scarring as a result. ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.

W
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2. | ask that a warrant of arrest.or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made,

3. | verlfy that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct {0 the best of my knowledge or information and

belief, This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S,'§ 4004) relating
to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 throu'gh Zy

5. | certify that this filing complies with thé.provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial

System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential
information and documents,

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonweaith
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, ar in violation of the statutes cited.

(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an afftdavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn to hefore the
assumg authonty, and attached,)

(Da,e_)“ O&gﬂ\b@(‘ y ) (rean aQDQ/Q‘*

~ AND NOW, on this date

(Slgnature of Afiiaat)

(=13~ D). | certify that the caomplaint has been properly completed and verified.
An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.

. « ’ . » ———"
{Magisterial District Court Number) Issding Authorlty) ‘

ADPC 412A - Rey, 7/18 page o of /4f
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AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

On 10/6/2020, Mount Carmel Townsmp Police Officer Daniel Politza was assngned to a complalnt
from the Northumberland County Children & Youth, ‘This complaint was concerning a Child Line referral
that was received from a mandated reporter. This referral was regarding a possible hazing incident
involving the Mount Carmel Area High School football players. It was reported that players were burned
by punks (a burning stick usually used to keep bugs away) and sparklers on thelr buttocks. Juvenile
victim #1 was reportedly bumned by other football players.

Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Brian Carnuccio, who is also the School Resource Officer for
the High School, took over the investigation and followed up on the complaint. Officer Carnuccio stated
he learned that the incident in which juvenile victim #1 was burned on his buttocks with punks and
sparkiers occurred on Wednesday, 9/30/2020, at football team captain Reed Witkoski’s residence in
Northumberiand County at 212 Montana Drivé, Mount Carmel Township, Kulpmont, PA. Officer
Carnuccio leamed that seniors and new starters were invited to watch game footage from the week
before at the Witkoski's house as part of a “football watch party”. Officer Camuccio observed a picture
of the burns on juvenile victim #1’s buttocks.

' Offlcer Carnuccio met with the parents of additional juvenile victims: #2 and #3. He obtained
photos of burn marks that they sustained as a result of the initiation. He saw that juvenile victim #2 was
burned on his buttocks and juvenile victim #3 was burned on the back of his neck.

Officer Carnuccio indicated that there was little to no amount of cooperation in his investigation from
the parents of other victims. He said he reached out to about 20 parents. Officer Carnuccio also said
he learned that the perpetrators were the team captains: Reed Witkoskl, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile
perpetrator #1. Also, he learned that other perpetrators may have been Tyler Owens, and juvenile
perpetrator #2. Juvenile perpetrator #3 and Michael Balichik were also present,

Ir addition to.hgving photos of the burn marks sustained by the juvenile victims #1, 2, and 3, Officer
Carnuccio had copies of two social media posts from Instagram. They were photos of Reed Witkoski
and juvenile victim #4 posing togsther. On the bottom, it read: “No Asses were harmed In the making
of this post”; and “reedwitkosk!”.

On 10/23/2020, Officer Carnuccio obtained search warrants and he seized the following football
players’ cell phones on 10/24/2020: Reed Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #1; Tyler Owens; Damon
Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #2 and 3; and Michael Balichik, These were older players whom he
identified as being present during the incidents and they were not burned. On 10/30/2020, these cell

phones were taken to the Pennsylvania State Police Bureau of Criminal lnvestzgatzons Computer Crtme
Unit for analysis, «

The head football coach for the Mount Carmel Area High School football team was John Darrah.
Darrah stated he learned of the Child Line complaint about hazing through a meeting with Officer-
Carnucclo and the athletic director, Greg Sacavage. Darrah said he saw a picture of someone with an
injury and he could tell it was serious. Practices were canceled and the school board was notified.
Darrah sald there was.a team meeting on that Thursday night and the players were given until noon on
that Friday to come in and tell what had happened. Darrah said no one came in, so they canceled the
game that was supposed to be on that Saturday. Darrah subsequently met with juvenile victim #1. He
learned that the football watch parties occurred, and juvenile victim #1 went to one on 9/30/2020, when

AOPC 411C ~ Rev. 07/18 - - Page of /¢
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he and other victims‘were burned with punks and sparklers by oidér members of the football team.
Darrah said that, after speaking with juvenile victim #1 and being provided a list of victims, he filed a
Child Line report.

Darrah then met with juvenile victim #2 and his parents. Juvenile victim #2 also related to him that’
he was a victim of being burned. Darrah alsc said that juvenile victim #2 told him that Damon Dowkus
called him from his sister's phone and told him: “You can tell people that you were here, but don't tel)
them...you didn’t know you were goihg to be burned before you came.” Darrah said juvenile victim #2
sald he was hlindfalded, asked to pull his pants down, and he was bumed. Darrah said that juvenile
victim #2 also had a severe burn on his leg. Darrah said juvenile victim #2 provided names of victims
and perpetrators. ,

Darrah also stated that he met with juvenile victim #3 at his housé Juvenile victim #3 would not tell
him anything at that time, but he came to Darrah’s office that following Monday and spoke to Darrah.
Juvenile victim #3 toid h}m ‘he was burned on.the neck.

Darrahi said he tried to speak to other players, but they would not cooperate. At some point, the
school's investigation ended with the rest of the football season being canceled.

On 10/30/2020, Northumberland County District Attorney Anthony Matulewicz referred this case to
the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, On 11/13/2020, your affiant, Special Agent David
Scicchitano from the Bureau of Criminal Investigations, was assigned to this case and took over this
investigation. Your affiant obtained and reviewed the files from Mount Carmel Township Police Officer
Brian Carnuccio. On 2/18/2021, after receiving the results back on the cell phones that were searched,
your affiant started to review this information.

Juvenile perpetrator #2 had messaging on his phone which included conversations with his mother
and father, His mother questicned him on 10/12/2020 as to,why Officer Carnuccio was trying to reach
her and If it was abotit the "hazing thing.” On 10/15/2020, his father wanted to know If juvenile
perpetrator #2 wanted to know “who ratted on the tearmn.” Juvenile perpetrator #2 responded: *Ya.”

Tyler Owens’ phone had a chat on it between Owens and a female identified as his girlfiend. On
10/7/2020, Owens wrote: “We're gonna be in so much trouble we think someone snitched about the
punks at reeds”. Owens wrote: “...someone snitched. ., (juvenile victim 1's name) without a doubt”.
When the female asked about what was snitched on, Owens said: “Burning their asses with punks at
reeds’. Owens also said, “...we're getting arrested.” When the female asked why, Owens'responde,d:
*Hazing.” On 10/9/2020, Owens continued his chat with this female. He continued talking about
*hazing", and he described it as: “Initiation and stuff like that”.

Your affiant subsequently served search warrants on social media accounts belongmg to participants
in this investigation. Your affiant found the following.

Michael Balichik's Facebook records had a group chat that included the following individuals from this
investigation who were current Mount Carmel High School football players: Damon Dowkus; Reed"
Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #4; juvenile victim #4; Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3.
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There were also other individuais in this chat who were alumni and past football players. Starting on
9/25/2020, there was a conversation of note. Juvenile perpetrator #4 sald: “anyone have anything we
can use to punk the new kids”". Juvenile perpetrator #3 sent a reply. However, the records showed that
the message was removed by sender on 10/24/2020. It should be noted that the Mt. Carmel Township
Police (Officer Carnuccio) obtained a search warrant and seized juvenile perpétrator #3's phone on
10/24/2020 and the football season had been canceled at this point due to this incident. Additional
messages from juvenile perpetrator #3 were also removed by sender, A male told juvenile perpetrator
#3: “I have some”. This male said: “I only have like 8". This male then sent a photo of someone’s
hand holding.7 punk sticks. :

Tyler Owens’ Snapchat records showed that he communicated with his girffriend on 10/13/2020.
Owens wrote his girlfriend and.talked about going to jail over this investigation. He concluded: “it's
gonna be a lot be he had to go to hospital’. When she asked who, Owens said: “(juvenile victim #5’s
nickname),” The female asked Owens what did he do to this victim, and Owens said: "Reed burned
him with a sparkier’. Owens sald this about the juvenile victim #6: 1 saw his burns they were had.. At
least second degree why don't you try sticking a metal sparklier to your ass until it burns out”. The
female asked: "..why do that the punks should've been enough, What all did you do to everyone”.
Owens said: “l only used punks” The female then asked: “Okay who afl used sparklers”. Owens
responded: "Reed”. .

Tyler Owens' Facebook records were reviewed and the following evidence was found.. On
10/24/2020, there was messaging between Owens and a male. Owens told this male that the police
came 1o his house and took his phone “over this hazing shit'. This male asked: “Are u gon get caught
up w hazing?” Owens responded: “Nah dowk reed and (juvenile perpetrator #1)". Owens added:
“Reed and dowk are both 18 too they'll get adult charges and will be on meghans law”.

The victims each described what they observed and what happened to them. The victims were: #1,
#2, #3; #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, and #9; 7 of the victims were juveniles at the time of the incidents, and two
were adults. ‘Your affiant learned that the first incident occurred on 9/23/2020 at team captain Reed
Witkoski's house. The football watch party involved watching video of the previous week's game.
Starters, including new starters, and seniors were invited, There were statements made that the three
team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, did the inviting either in
~person or through a chat. There was food and soft drinks, plus a TV, set up in the Witkoski's garage.
~ The players would have the party in the garage while the parents were inside the Witkoski house. This
date was on a Wednesday, and people started showing up at around 6:30 pm.

Also on 9/23/2020, something happened when the game reached halftime. The team captains,
Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1 told all of the players in the garage to go
outside and go to the rear of the Witkoski house. Team captains Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus and
juvenile perpetrator #1, and starters Tyler Owens, juvenile perpetrator #3, and Michae! Balichik were
identified as telling the new starters to pull down their pants. The victims' buttocks were exposed. The
following starters and captains burned the victims with lit punk sticks on the victims’ buttocks: Reed
Witkoski; Damon Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3; Tyler Owens; juvenile perpetrator #4;
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Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrator #2; and juvenile perpetrator #5. The people who were burned on
this date were victims: #2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #8, and #9. The players returned to the garage to finish
watching the game, and then they left.

A second incident occurred the following Wednesday, 9/30/2020. The Witkoski's hosted a second
football wateh party at their house, This was the same scenario as the 9/23/2020 party. The players
were in the garage; and the same parents were inside of the house. At halftime, everyone was told to
go outside to the back area. The new starters were told to pull down their pants, exposing their
buttocks. The team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, and starter
Tyler Owens, used lit punk sticks and/or a sparkler to burn victims #5, #1 and #7.

The victims said that they were “new starters” on the team, They indicated that their burning on their
buttocks, as well as other areas, by the team captains and older starters with lit punks and sparklers
was an “inltiation” as new starters on the football team,

Concem!ng Reed Witkoski, the victims said what Witkoski did on both 9/23/2020 and 9/30/2020 at
the hazing incidents, In regards to 9/23/2020, the following was sald. Victim #2 said Witkoski pulled out
punks and handed them to juvenile perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, and #5. Victim #3 said the same thing
except he also included Tyler Owens being handed a punk by Reed Witkoski. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski and Damon Dowkus passed a lighter around to light the punk sticks, Victim #5 said the
captains were: lighting the punks on this date. Victim #3 also sald Witkoski had a punk in his hand on
this date. Victim #4 said he saw Witkoski and Dowkus with punks right before he got burned on his
exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #3 said that he observed Witkoski, as well as.eight
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 also sald that he saw Witkoski, as
well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with lit punks on the victims’ buttocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Witkoski, as well as Dowkus and juvenile perpetrator #1, as burning him
on his buttocks with lit punks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 stated that Witkoski burned him with a punk, and
- Witkaski also burned victims #3, #9, and #5 on 9/23/2020. When the burning was over, Witkoski said:
"What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” This was verified by the victims #2, #3, #5, #8,
and #6. Victim #4 said that Witkoski said: “Nothing leaves here!” Victim #2 said that Witkoski used the
word: “Initiation.” According to victim #5, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 apologized to him in
person. Victim #6 said that, in person and in school, Witkoski made sure he kept his mouth shut,

Concerning Reed Witkoski and his activity on 9/30/2020, the following was said. Victim #5 said that
Witkoski said: “Alright, who's first?" Victim #7 said Witkoskl had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 said that
both Witkoski and Dowkus were abserved with sparkiers. Victim #8 said he observed Witkoski,
Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 also sald
Witkoski burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Victim #4 said that Witkoski held victim #5's arm while
Dowkus burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Witkoski also said: “What happens here 'stays here, don't say
anything.” Victims #7 and #5 verified this. Victim #1 said that Witkoski burned the victim #7 with a
punk. Victim #1 also said Witkoski held victim #7 while he was being burned. Victim #1 also said that
Witkoski burned him with a punk and also held victim #1's arm while he was being burned. Victim #1
also stated that Witkoski burned the victim #5 for the second week in a row.
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Concerning Damon Dowkus, the following was said as to Dowkus aotawty at the 9/23/2020 hazing
incident. Victims #2 and #3 stated that Dowkus alse pulled out punks and handed them to juvenile
perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, #5, and Tyler Owens. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus and Witkaski passed
a lighter around to light the punks. Victim #5 said the captains were lighting the punks. Victims #3, #8,
and #9 said Dowkus had a punk in his hand. Victim #4 said he saw Dowkus and Witkoski with punks
right before he got burned on his expdased buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #4 also said that
Dowkus burned him on the back of his leg as he was coming into the garage after getting burned on his
buttocks, V:ctlm #4 also said Dowkus burned victims #3 and #5. Victim #3 sald that he observed
Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020, Victim #5 said he
observed Dowkus, as well as '8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #8 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Dowkus, Witkoski, and juvenile perpetrator #1 as holding
punks and burning him on his buttocks with the punks on 9/23/2020, Victim #2 said Dowkus burned him
with a punk and also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. Victims #2, #3, #5, #9, and #6 said Dowkus
said: "What happens here stays here, don’t say anything.” Victims #2 and #5 said Dowkus used the
word “initiation”. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus bumed him on the leg about 10 minutes after the
initiation when he got burned on his buttocks. Victim #3 said that Dowkus burned him on the neck in the
garage after the initiation on 9/23/2020, Victim #4 said that Dowkus said: “Nothing leaves herel”
According to the victim #2, after the authorities got involved, Dowkus and his sister called victim #2 and
told him to say that he voluntarlly got burned and it was his choice. Victim #6 said that, in person and in
school, Dowkus made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the following was stated as to Damon Dowkus’
activity, Victim #5 said that Dowkus ‘and Witkoski were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 saw Damon
Dowkus, Reed Witkoski, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Tyler Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7.
Victim #8 also said Dowkus used a punk to burn the victim #5. Victims #2, #9, and #4 said they
observed Dowkus burn the victim #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victims #5 and #6 said they
observed Dowkus burn victim #1 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victim #1 said Dowkus burned victim #7
with a punk on 8/30/2020, and Dowkus also held victim #7 while he was getting burned. Victim #1 also
said that Dowkus said his punk ran out, and he was handed a sparkler and burned victim #1 with the
sparkler. Victims #1 and #6 'said that Dowkus also held victim #1's arms while he was being hurned.
Also, according to victim #1, Dowkus told victim #1 that he was the only one who “took it like a man.”
Victims #1, #5, and #4 stated that victim #5 was burned a second week in a row, for revenge because he
victim #5 was talking to a girl that Dowkus liked. Victims #3 and #5 also said that Dowkus decided that
victim #5 would be burned a second wegek In a row on 9/30/2020; they would tell him they pulled his
name from a hat, but they really did not do that; they just did not like him. Dowkus then burned victim
#5 with a sparkler. Victim #1 also identified Dowkus as burning victim #5 for the second week In a row.

- Victim #4 said that Dowkus told vietim #5 that every year, someone gets picked to go twice. Accarding
to the victim #8, in October, a week after the second hazing incident, Dowkus told teammates: “...If we
go down, we go down altogether." Victim #5 also stated that Dowkus sent him a Snap Chat message
apoioglzmg for What happened. »
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The following was said as to juvenile perpetrator #1’s activity at the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said fuvenile perpetrator #1 was handed 4 punk-from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Victims #3, #8, and #9 also said ;uvenz!e perpetrator #1 had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 sald the
captains were lighting the punks. Victim #3 said he observed juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8. Victim #5 said that Juvenile perpetrator #1, aswellas 8
others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6
identified juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, and Witkoski as burning him on his buttocks with punks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenlle perpetrator #1 also burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020, as well as
the victims #3, #0, and #5. Also, the victims #2, #3, and #5 said juvenile perpetrator #1 said: "What
happens here stays here, don't say anything.” Victtm #2 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 used the
word: “Initiation.”

Cencerning juvenile perpetrator #1’s activity during the second hazing Incident on 9/30/2020, the
following was stated. Victim #8 said that he saw juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, Witkoski and Owens
burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned the victim #5 with a
sparkler. Victim #1 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victims #1 and #7 with a punk on 9/30/2020.
Victim #1 also said that juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victim #5 for the second week in a row. Victim #5
said that juvenile perpetrator #1 and Witkoski apologized to him later in person. ‘

The following was stated as to Tyler Owens' activity during the first hazing incident on 9/23/2020.
Victims #8, #9, and #3 said. Owens had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 observed Owens, as well as 8
~ others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 8/23/2020. Victim #5 said he saw Owens, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on thelr buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2
said Owens burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020. After victim #2 was burned, Owens also burned the
victims #3, #9, and #5. The victim #5 said that both Tyler Owens and juvenile perpetraior #3 told him
that they were both burned with punks as an initiation previously.

Concerning Tyler Owens’ activity at the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, thé following was

stated. Victim #8 said he saw Owens, Dowkus, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 burn victims #1,
#5, and #7.

There were also statements provided concerning juvenile perpetrator #3's activity during the first
hazing incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 sald juvenile perpetrator #3 was handed a punk from Witkoski
and Dowkus, Victims #3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #3 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 said
juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim
#5 said that juvenile perpetrator #3, as welt as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with
punks on their buttocks on 8/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 burned him with a punk on
9/23{2020. After victim #2 was burned, he said juvenile perpetrator #3 also burned the victims #3, #9,

and #5. Victim #5 also sald that juvenile perpetrator #3 and Owens told him that they were both burned
with punks as an initiatlon previously. ‘

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #4’s activity during the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 sald juvenile perpetrator #4 was handed a punk from Witkaski and Dowkus,
Victim #3 said Juvenile perpetrator #4 had a punk in his hand on 9/23/2020. Vsctim #3 said he also saw

- AOPC412A—Rev. 7/18 Page{{ of _‘{

s




i b TR SURR FTMUIS TRALE (FAX)5703304433 P.012/020

8 POLICE CR!MINAL.COMPLAINT

‘Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number
18-/ 51703,

Docket Number:

NIRRT First; . Middle:
5 TYLER REESE

- |uvenile perpetrator #4, as well as others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 8/23/2020. Victim #5
sald he observed juvenile perpetrator #4, as wall as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9
with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020 Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 burned him with a
punk on 9/23/2020. After victim #2 was burned, juvenilé perpetrator #4 also bumed the victims #3, #9,
and #5, according to victim #2. '

Concerning. Michael Balichik, there were also statements made as to his activity at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020 Victims #3 and #9 sald Balichik had a punk'in his hand. Victim #3 also said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Balichik burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020 Victim #2 also said that, after
he was burned, Balichik also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

There were also statements made concerning juvenile perpetrator #2's activity at the first hazmg
incident on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 sald juvenile perpstrator #2 was handed a punk from Witkoski and
Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #2 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 also said
juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, butned victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said
that juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said that juvenile perpetrator #2 burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020.
Victim #2 also sald that, after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #2 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #5's actwlty on 9/23/2020 at the first hazing incident:
Victim-#2 said juvenile perpetrator #5 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus. Victim #3 said that
juvenile perpetrator #5 had 2 punk in his hand on 9/23/2020. Victim #3 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as well

-as 8 others; burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as
well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2
said that juvenile perpetrator #5 burned the victim #2 with a punk on 9/23/2020. The victim #2 also said that,
after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #5 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

The followlng is a'list of the victims and Who burned them, based on statements made:

1. Victim #1: was burned by Damon Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Wltkoskl, and Tyler Owens on
9/20/2020.

-~

2. Victim #2: was bumed by Damon Dowkus, Tylér Owens, Mlchael Bahchlk Reed Witkoski, and by juvemle
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

3. Vietim #3 was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owaens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.
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Victim #5: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5.0on 9/23/2020. He was also burned on 9/30/2020 by Damon Dowkus,
juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens.

v

Victim #8: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Machaei Bafichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

6. Victim #7: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on
9/30/2020. |

7. Victim #4; was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

Victim #6: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tylér Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
 ‘perpetrators #1, #2, #13, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

%

Victim #9; was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Bailchik Reed thkoslq and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #S on 9/23/2020.

o

The following is a list of the perpetrators and who they burned, based on statements made by the victims:

1. Damon Dowkus: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
~ He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

2. Reed Witkoski: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

3, Juvenile pefpetrator #1: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on

9/23/2020. He also burned victims #7 and #1 with a punk and victim #5 with a sparkler on
9/30/2020 ,

4, Tyler Owens: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 wath a punk on 9/23/2020 He
~ also burned v:ctlm #7, #1 and #5 with a punk on 9/30/2020

AOPC 412A — Rev. 7/18 N | R | " Pageléej'

74




e ————— P 1 PRLIMET WULE TTAUD ERALR (FAX)S?0339‘1433 P.014/020

7

& POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAIN

Docket Number: Date Filed: | OTN/LIveScan Number 56 m‘pfalnﬂl cidenth

81229 Bl e A
First: . Middle; Last:

TYLER | ReesE _ {owens

‘5. Juvenile perpetrator #3: bumed victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020 -

© 6. Juvenile perpetrator #2: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

7. Michael Baliqhik; burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.

‘8. luvenile perpetrator #5: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, 44, #6, and #9 with a punk on
| 9/23/2020.

9. Juvenile perpetrator #4: burned victims #2 #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

In addition to the original photos of their injuries that were taken within days of the incident, victims
#1 and #2 later provided photos of their Injuries that turned into scars which were currently present:
victim #1 on his buttocks, and #2 on his leg and buttocks. Your affiant also took photos of the rest of the |
victims: #5; #7; #9; #6; and #4. As with #1 and #2, these victims all had prominent scarring on their |
buttocks. Victim #8 was observed to not have any scarring; and victim #3 said he did not have scars.,

Based on the above evidence, your afflant has probabie oause to believe that the defendant Tyler
Owens commitied the following acts. :

The defendant intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, for the purpose of initiating, admitting or affiliating
minor or student into or with an organization, or for the purpose of continuing or enhancing a minor or student's
membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor ar student to endure brutality of a
physical nature, including branding, when the defendant and eight other co-defendants initlated nine male
victims as "new starters” on the Mt. Carmel Area High School Football Team; the victims were made to pull down
their pants and expose their bare buttocks; the victims were each burned on thelr bare buttocks with a lit "punk”

stick and/or sparkler, causing burns and pain to all nine victims; seven of the victims sustained scarring as a
result,

Also, with the intent of promotmg or facilitating its commission, the defendant agreed with such other person
or persons that they or one or more of them will engage in conduct which constituted such crime or an attempt

or solicitation to commit such crime. The defendant, along with 8 co- defendants, conspired to commit-the crime
of Hazing on the victims,
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The affiant has probable cause to believe that the above information is truthful and correct.

1, 5. A. DAVID SCICCHITANG, BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TO THE LAW, DEPOSE AND SAY THAT THE
FACTS SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY
KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND BELIEF.

| CERTIFY THAT THIS FILING COMPLIES WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE CASE RECORDS PUBLIC ACCESS

POLICY OF THE UNIFIED JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF PENNSYLVANIA THAT REQUIRE FILING CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS DIFFERENTLY THAT NON-CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS.

/éx//}m#’

(Signature of Affiant)
Sworn to me and subscribed before me this day of

o~ D=0 Daté__é;@,;[‘ A  Magisterial District Judge

My commission expires first Monday of January, 3924
SEAL

I
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF:NORTHUMBERLAND COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number: 08-2-01 LS| VS, ‘

MDJ: Hon, William Cole DEFENDANT (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 150 8, Market Street _MICHAFL _RICHARD BALICHIK

Mount Carmel, PA 17851 First Narms Midgle Narne Last Name t:s:e

318 S. Market Street, Mount Carmel, PA 17851
Telephone (570)339 2140 DEFENDANT NEEDS PROCESS‘;ING
B v R NCERGERS " NCIC Extradition coda TYRR ERf T F A B T b i e e T
D 1rFelony Full, D 5 Fe:eny Pending Extradition C-Misdemeanor Surroundmg Stales [ Distance:
[Tt 2-Felony Limited [ 6-Folony Pending Extradition Determ. [ D-Misdemeanst No Extradifion
[1 3-Felany Surmounding States [ A-Misdemeancr Full [] £-Misdemeanar Pending Extradition
O 4~Felony No Extrad!tlon 8- Mlédameanor Limited - I FeMisdemeanor Pendlng Sxtrad?ﬁon _
AR T T T T e D EFENDANT IDENTIFIGATION INFORMATION o R R R B R R
Dociet Numbar Date Filad OTNILiveSean Number Complaintincdon Namber gmgg;.‘;ab
120057 200 R 349141 - b BCC200407 R YES [ NO

GENDER | poB 11/05/2001 | poB | Add1DOB [/ Co-Defendant(s) X
Mala First Name Middie Name Last Name Gen,
[ Female AKA
RACE White [ Aslan ] Black Native American { tunknown
ETHNICITY Mispenic Noa-Hispanic " L1 Unlaiown

[ GRY (Gray) ] ReD (Red/Aubn.) {1 sov (sandy I 8tU (Blus) [ PLE (Pumie) 2 BRO (Brown)
Halr e {Black) 7 ONG (Orangs) 1w oavnite) CExex (Unissal) [ QRN (Green) ] PNK {PInky
Caolor

{71 BLN (Blonés / Strawaany)
Eye  [1BLK(Blatk) 3 81U {Biue) {0 ero (arown) Ul GRu (Breen) I GRY (@ray)
Color  IXI HAZ (Hazel) [ mAR (Maroon) LI ek (i - [ MUL (Mutloclored) T XXX (Unkeown)

| DNA [JYES [ NO | DNA Locatlon WEIGHT (lhs.)
FBi Number T | MNU Number
Defendant Fingerprinted | [ YES K NO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Flngerprint Classitcation: : 6 t 1
DEFERDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION . '
State | Haz Reglstration Comm'i Veh, School Veh, Oth, NCIG Veh, Code Reg.

Plate # "[‘gi Sticker (MMYY) /[ ind. - 01 = as Det.
VIN Yaar | Make Mode} Style Coler l

Office of the attbmey for the Commonwealth [J Approved () Disapproved because;

{The altorney for tha Commonwoallh may require that e complaint, srzsl warant &Hidavit, of both B6 approved by e aiojmey 13 IH6 COmMOonwealh Brot
o fiiing. Sae Pa.R,Cim.F. §07),

Josepk M. Sembrof | SPA (2/ Yoz
{Nema of lhe atlornéy for the Cammanwesllh) (Date)
,_S. A. DAVID SCICCHITANO 595
{Name of the Affiant) . _ (PSPMPOETC -Assigned Afflant 1D Number & Radge #
Pennsylvania Office of Attornev General PA0222400
(idenﬁfy Depariment or Agenocy Represented and Pofitical Subdivision (Police Agency ORJ Numbsr)

do hereby state: (check appropriate box)
1. [ | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above
0 | ascuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is describad as

[J | accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have
therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe
with violating the penat laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at [210]
Township, Kulpmont, Pa 17834 (Stibdision

212 Montana Drive, Mount Carmel
(Piace-Palifical SUBGVISION)

in NORTHUMBERLAND T49] on or ahout 08/23/2020

County

{County Coda)
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The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violaled, If appropriate.

When there js. more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defandant of the nature of the offense(s) charged A citation to the s!atute(sg aliegedly violated,
without more, is not Sufficient. In a summary caco, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsestion(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s) allegedly violated.
The age of the victim st the time of the offengc may be included if known. tn addition, soclal security numbers and financial information {e.g. Ple) should not
he lrshed If the identity of an'account must be egtablished, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Cods §§ 213.1 - 243.7.)

D Solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Ags 60 or Older O,

18902 A ' 18 903

NCIC Offense

PA State (fie)  Counts Gda . o " UCRINIBRS Code
1 interstate (1 Safety Zone {1 Waork Zona

Statuté 'Dlescriptéon (|ﬁciﬂde the name of statute or ordinance). PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2802(1\)(3). HAZING

: Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense: Defendant, on the above date and at the above |ocanon, mtentional!y, knowingly or recklessly,
for the purpose of initiating, admittng or affiliating a minor or student into or with an organizatlon, or for the purpose of continuing or enhancing & minor or
student’s membership or status In-an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor ar student to endure brutality of a physical nature, including branding,
To wit: the defendant and eight other co-defendants | n:ttafed seven male victims as "new starters” an the Mt. Carmel Area High School Football Team; the
victims were made to pull down their pants and expose their bare buttocks; the victims were each burned on thelr bare buttocks with a it "punk" stick, causing
burns and pain to all seven victims; five of the victims from this date sustained scarring a5 a result. 'ONE COUNT=MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.

8hs! [ Atternpt {7 Solicitation Conspiracy - Number of Victims Age 60 or Older 0

13 9071 A ‘ 18902 A 18 903 -

O : ; ) ;
Lead?  Offensed Section Susacton PA Siatute (Tile)  Counts Grage  NNIC Offenee UCR/NIBRS Code
[ interstate : 1 safety Zone , O Work Zone

Statute Descri}itlon (inciude' the name of statute or ordinance): PA TETLE 18 SECTION 903(A)(1) CR‘IMINAL CONSPIRACY (TO
COMMIT A VIOLATION OF PA TITLE 18 SECTION 2802(A)(3): HAZING)

Acts of the accused assoclated with this Offense Defendant, on the above date and al the above location, with the Intent of praroting or

| facllitating its cormmission he agreed with such other person or persons that they or one or more of them will engage in conduct which constituted such crime

or an attempt or solicitation to commit such crime, To wit: defendant, along with & co-defendants, intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, for the purpose of

Initiating, admitting or affiflating a minor or student into or with an organization, o for the purpose of continuing or enhanging a minor or student’s

membership or status in ‘an organization, ¢aused, coerced or forced & minor Qr student to endure brutality of a physical nature, including branding, The

defendant and eight other co-defendants inmated seven male victims as "new starters” ¢n the Mt. Carmel Area High School Football Team; the victims were
ML down their oants and_expose their bare huttocks: the victims were each burned op.their bare buttacks (continued) :

-
/

& [ Attempt . { O] solicitation [ Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older O
188071 A 18902 A 18908

PA Statute (Title) Cotnts Grade_ NCIC Gffense Code  UGR/NIBRS Coda

1 Interstate {1 Safety Zone I Work Zone

Statute Descripiton (\ncludehthe name of statute of ordi nance):

Acts of the accused agsociated with this Offense:
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OFFENSE DESCRIPTION CONTINUATION

Offense # 2 (contihued) with a it "punk"’ stick, cat}sing ‘burns and pain to all seven victims; five of the victims
from this date sustained scarring as a result, ONE COUNT--MISDEMEANOR THIRD DEGREE.
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2. | ask that a warrant of arrest of @ summons be issued and that the defendant be required to answer the charges | have
made, . '

3. 1 verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4904 of the Cnmes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) reEatmg
to unsworn fa%slflcatron fo authorihes

4, This cornplaint consists of the preceding page( ) numbered 1 through L‘{

5.1 certify that this filing comphes w:th the provisions of the Casse Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
Systern of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential mfurmatlon and documents differently that non-confidential
information and documents.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Gommonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited.
(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn to before the

issuing authority, and attached.) / ﬁk%‘

(Date) ﬂ ecpm [}&/‘ g (Year) 2.0 Q... ' | - (Slgha’:ure of Affiant)

AND NOW, on this date / 2= } el T | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and. venf ed.

An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be' lssued. '

—ENC
(Magisterial District Court Number) éuaw@ Authority) :

SEAL
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AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

On 10/6/2020, Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Daniel Politza was assigned to a complaint
from the Northumberland County Children & Youth, This complaint was concemning ‘a Child Line referral
that was received from a mandated reporter. This referral was regarding a possble hazing incident
involving the Mount Carmel Area High School football players, It was reported that players. were burned
by punks (a burning stick usually used to keep bugs away) and sparklers on their buttocks. Juvenile
victim #1 was reportedly burned by other football players.

Mount Carmel Township Police Officer Brian Carnuccio, who is a!so the School Resource Officer for
the High School, took over the investigation and followed up on the complaint. Officer Carnucclo stated
he learned that the incident In which juvenile victim #1 was burned on his buttocks with punks and
sparklers occurred on Wednesday, 9/30/2020, at football team captain Reed Witkoski's residence in
Northumbertand County at 212 Montana Drive, Mount Carmel Township, Kulpmont, PA. Officer

" Carnuccio learned that seniors and new starters were invited to watch game footage from the week
before at the Witkoski's house as part of a “football watch party”. Officer Camuccio observed a picture
of the burns on juvenile victim #1’s buttocks. -

Officer Carnuccio met with the parents of additional juvenile victims: #2 and #3, He obtained
photos of burn marks that they sustained as a result of the initiation. He saw that juvenile victim #2 was
bumed on his buttocks and juvenile victim #3 was burned on the back of his neck.

Officer Carnuccio indicated that there was little to no amount of cooperation in his investigation from
the parents of other victims, He said he reached out to about 20 parents. Officer Carnuccio also said
he learned that the perpetrators were the team captains: Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile .
perpetrator #1. Also, he learned that other perpetrators may have been Tyler Owens, and juvenile
perpetrator #2. Juvenile perpetrator #3 and the defendant Michael Balichik were also present.

in addition to having photos of the_bum marks sustainéd‘ by the juvenile victims #1, 2, and 3, Officer
Carnuccio had copies of two soclal media posts from Instagram. They were photos of Reed Witkoski

and juvenile victim #4 posing together, On the bottom it read “‘No Asses were harmed in the making -
of this post” and “reedwitkoski".

On 10/23/2020, Officer Carnuccio obtained search warrants and he seized the following footbal!
players’ cell phones on 10/24/2020: Reed Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #1; Tyler Owens; Damon
Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #2 and 3; and Michael Balichik. These were oider nlayers whom he
identified as being present during the incidents and they were not burned. On 10/30/2020, these cell -

phones were taken to the Pennsylvania State Police Bureau of Criminal Investigatmns Computer Crime
Unit for analysis. ’

The head football coach for the Mount Carmel Area High School football team was John Darrah, -
Darrah stated he learned of-the Child Line complaint about hazmg through a meeting with Officer
" Carnuccio and the athletic director, Greg Sacavage. Darrah said he saw a picture of someone with an.
injury and he could tell it was serfous. Practices were canceled and the school board was nhotified.
Darrah said there was a team meeting on that Thursday night and the players were given untli noon on
that Friday to come in and tell what had happened. Darrah said no one came in, so they canceled the
game that was supposed to be on that Saturday. Darrah subsequéntly met with juvenile victim #1. He
learned that the football watch parties occurred, and juvenile victim #1 went to one on 9/30/2020, when

AOPC 411C ~ Rev. 07/18 A& Pl fl_'f
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he and other victims were burned with punks and sparklers by older members of the football team.
Darrah said that, after speaking with juvenile victim #1 and being provided a list of victims, he filed a
Child Line report.

Darrah then met with juvenile victim #2 and his parents, Juvenile victim #2 also related to him that
he was a victim of being burned. Darrah also said that juvenile victim #2 told him that Damon Dowkus
called him from his sister's phone and told him: “You can tell people that you were here, but don't tell
them...you didn't know you were going to be burned before you came.” Darrah sald juvenile victim #2
said he was blindfolded, asked to pull his pants down, and he was bumed, Darrah said that juvenile
victim #2 also had a severe burn on his leg. Darrah said juvenile victim #2 provided names of victims
and perpetrators,

Darrah also stated that he met with juvenile victim #3 at his house. Juvenile victim #3 would not tell
him anything at that time, but he came to Darrah’s office that following Monday and spoke to Darrah.
Juvenile victim #3 told him he was burned on the neck.

Darrah sald he tried to speak to other players, but they would not cooperate. At some point, the
school's investigation ended with the rest of the football season being canceled.

On 10/30/2020, Northumbetland County District Attorney Anthony Matulewicz referred this case to
the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General. On 11/13/2020, your afflant, Special Agent David
Scicchitano from the Bureau of Criminal Investigations, was assigned to this case and took over this
investigation. Your affiant obtained and reviewed the files from Mount Carmel Township Police Officer
Brian Carnuccio. On 2/18/2021, after receiving the results back on the cell phones that were searched,
your affiant started to review this information.

Juvenile perpetrator #2 had messaging on his phone which included conversations with his mother
and father. His mother questioned him on 10/12/2020 as to why Officer Carnuccio was trying to reach
her and if it was about the "hazing thing,” On 10/15/2020, his father wanted to know if juvenile
perpetrator #2 wanted to know “who ratted on the team.” Juvenile perpetrator #2 responded: “Ya.”

Tyler Owens’ phone had a chat on it between Owens and a female identified as his girlfrlend. On
10/7/2020, Owens wrote: "We're gonna be in so much trouble we think someone snitched about the
punks at reeds”, Owens wrote: “...someone snitched...(juvenile victim 1’s name) without a doubt”.
When the female asked about what was snitched on, Owens sald: "Burning their asses with punks at
reeds”. Owens also said, “...we're getting arrested.” When the female asked why, Owens responded:
"Hazing.” On 10/9/2020, Owens continued his chat with this female. He continued talking about
“hazing”, and he described it as; “Initiation and stuff like that”.

Your afflant subsequently served search warrants on social media accounts belonging to participants
in this investigation. Your affiant found the following.

Michael Balichik’s Facebook records had a group chat that included the following individuals from this
investigation who were current Mount Carmel High School football players: Damon Dowkus; Reed
Witkoski; juvenile perpetrator #4; 3uvenile victim #4; Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3.
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There were also other individuals in this chat who were alumnl and past football players. Starting on
91252020, there was a conversation of note. Juvenile perpetrator #4 said: “anyone have anything we
can use to punk the new kids”. Juvenile perpetrator #3 sent a reply. However, the records showed that
the message was removed by sender on 10/24/2020. It should be noted that the Mt. Carmel Township
Police (Officer Carnuccio) obtained a search warrant and seized juvenile perpetrator #3’s phone on
10/24/2020 and the football season had been canceled at this point due to this incident. Additional
messages from juvenile perpetrator #3 were also removed by sender. A male told juvenile perpetrator
#3. “l have some”. This male said: "l only have like 8”. This male then sent a photo of someone’s
hand holding 7 punk sticks.

Tyler Owens’ Snapchat records showed that he communicated with his girlfriend on 10/13/2020.
Owens wrote his girifriend and talked about going to jail over this investigation. He concluded: “it's
gonna be a lot be he had to go to hosplital”. When she asked who, Owens said: “(juvenile victim #5’s
nickname).” The female asked Owens what did he do to this victim, and Owens said: "Reed burned
him with a sparkler”, Owens sald this about the juvenile victim #5: "I saw his burns they were bad...At
least second degree why don’t you try sticking a metal sparkier to your ass until it burns out”. The
female asked: “..why do that the punks should've been enough. What all did you do to everyone”.

Owens said: "l only used punks”. The female then asked: "Okay who all used sparklers”. Owens
responded: “Reed”,

Tyler Owens’ Facebook records were reviewed and the following evidence was found. On
10/24/2020, there was messaging between Owens and a male. Owens told this male that the police
came to his house and took his phone “over this hazing shit’. This male asked: “Are u gon get caught
up w hazing?" Owens responded: "Nah dowk reed and (juvenile perpetrator #1)". Owens added:
“Reed and dowk are both 18 too they'll get adult charges and will be on meghans law”.

The victims each described what they observed and what happened to them. The victims were: #1,
#2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, and #9; 7 of the victims were juveniles at the time of the incidents, and two
were adults. Your affiant learned that the first incident occurred on 9/23/2020 at team captain Reed
Witkoski’'s house. The football watch party involved watching video of the previous week’s game.
Starters, including new starters, and seniors were invited, There were statements made that the three
team captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, did the inviting either in
person or through a chat. There was food and soft drinks, plus a TV, set up in the Witkoski's garage.
The players would have the party in the garage while the parents were inside the Witkoski house. This
date was on a Wednesday, and people started showing up at around 6:30 pm.

Also on 9/23/2020, something happened when the game reached halftime, The team captains,
Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1 told all of the players in the garage to go
outside and go to the rear of the Witkoski house. Team captains Read Witkoski, Damon Dowkus and
juvenile perpetrator #1, and starters Tyler Owens, juvenile perpetrator #3, and Michael Balichik were
identified as telling the new starters to pull down their pants. The victims' buttocks were exposed. The
following starters and captains burned the victims with lit punk sticks on the victims' buttocks: Reed
Witkoski; Damon Dowkus; juvenile perpetrators #1 and #3; Tyler Owens; juvenile perpetrator #4;
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Michael Balichik; juvenile perpetrator #2; and juvenile perpetrator #5, The people who were burned on
this date were victims: #2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #8, and #9. The players returned to the garage to finish
watching the game, and then they left,

A second incident occurred the following Wednesday, 9/30/2020. The Witkoski's hosted a second
football watch party at their house. This was the same scenario as the 9/23/2020 party. The players
were in the garage, and the same parents were inside of the house. At haiftime, everyone was told to
go outside to the back area. The new starters were told to pull down their pants, exposing their
buttocks. The tearn captains, Reed Witkoski, Damon Dowkus, and juvenile perpetrator #1, and starter
Tyler Owens, used lit punk sticks and/or a sparkler to burn victims #5, #1 and #7.

The victims said that they were “new starters” on the team. They indicated that their burning on their
buttocks, as well as other areas, by the team captains and older starters with lit punks and sparklers
was an “initiation” as new starters on the football team.

Concerning Reed Witkoski, the victims said what Witkoski did on both 9/23/2020 and 9/30/2020 at
the hazing incidents. In regards to 9/23/2020, the following was said. Victim #2 said Witkoski pulled out
punks and handed them to juvenile perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, and #5. Victim #3 said the same thing
except he also included Tyler Owens being handed a punk by Reed Witkoski, Victim #2 also said .
Witkoski and Damon Dowkus passed a lighter around to light the punk sticks. Victim #5 said the
captains were lighting the punks on this date, Victim #3 also said Witkoski had a punk in his hand on
this date, Victim #4 said he saw Witkoski and Dowkus with punks right before he got burned on his
exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #3 said that he observed Witkoski, as well as eight
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 also said that he saw Witkoski, as
well as 8 others, burn the victims #2 #3, #8, #4, and #9 with lit punks on the victims' buttocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Witkoski, as well as Dowkus and juvenile perpetrator #1, as burning him
on his buttocks with lit punks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 stated that Witkoski burned him with a punk, and
Witkoski also burned victims #3, #9, and #5 on 9/23/2020. When the burning was over, Witkoski sald;
“What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” This was verified by the victims #2, #3, #5, #8,
and #6. Victim #4 said that Witkoski said: “Nothing leaves herel” Victim #2 said that Witkoski used the
word: “Initiation.” According to victim #5, Witkoski and Juvenile perpetrator #1 apologized to him in
person. Victim #6 said that, in person and in school, Witkoski made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning Reed Witkoski and his activity on 8/30/2020, the following was said. Victim #5 said that
Witkoski said: “Alright, who's first?” Victim #7 sald Witkoski had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 said that
both Witkoski and Dowkus were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 said he observed Witkoski,
Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Owens burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 also said
Witkoski burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Victim #4 said that Witkoski held victim #5’s arm while
Dowkus burned victim #5 with a sparkler. Witkoski also said: “What happens here stays here, don't say
anything." Victims #7 and #5 verified this. Victim #1 said that Witkoski burned the victim #7 with a
punk, Victim #1 also said Witkoski held victim #7 while he was being burned. Victim #1 also said that
Witkoski burned him with a punk and also held victim #1's arm while he was being burned. Victim #1
also stated that Witkoski burned the victim #5 for the second week in a row.

AOPC 412A — Rev. 7/18 ’ Page A_’ of L

i/




16l LEIEUEL 13,39 WILLIATE LULE MALIDIKALL {FA¥)5703394433 P.011/018

]

Lo POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTNI/LiveScan Number
72— [0 203

s7dt Firsts Middle: '
sl MICHAEL ' RICHARD BALICHIK

Concerning Damon Dowkus, the following was said as to Dowkus' activity at the 9/23/2020 hazing
incident. Victims #2 and #3 stated that Dowkus also pulled out punks and handed them to juvenile
perpetrators #3, #1, #2, #4, #5, and Tyler Owens. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus and Witkoski passed
a lighter around to light the punks. Victim #5 said the captains were lighting the punks. Victims #3, #8,
and #9 said Dowkus had a punk in his hand. Victim #4 said he saw Dowkus and Witkoski with punks
right before he got burned on his exposed buttocks and said they burned him. Victim #4 also said that
Dowkus burned him on the back of his teg as he was coming into the garage after getting burned on his
buttocks. Victim #4 also said Dowkus burned victims #3 and #5. Victim #3 said that he observed
Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he
observed Dowkus, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6 identified Dowkus, Witkoski, and juvenile perpetrator #1 as holding
punks and burning him on his buttocks with the punks on 8/23/2020. Victim #2 sald Dowkus burned him
with a punk and also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. Victims #2, #3, #5, #8, and #6 said Dowkus '
said: “What happens here stays here, don't say anything.” Victims #2 and #5 said Dowkus used the
word “initiation”. Victim #2 also said that Dowkus burned him on the leg about 10 minutes after the
initiation when he got burned on his buttocks. Victim #3 said that Dowkus burned him on the neck in the
garage after the initiation on 9/23/2020, Victim #4 said that Dowkus said: “Nothing leaves here!”
According to the victim #2, after the authorities got involved, Dowkus and his sister called victim #2 and
told him to say that he voluntarily got burned and it was his cholce. Victim #6 said that, in person and in
school, Dowkus made sure he kept his mouth shut.

Concerning the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the following was stated as to Damon Dowkus’
activity, Victim #5 said that Dowkus and Witkoski were observed with sparklers. Victim #8 saw Damon
Dowkus, Reed Witkoski, juvenile perpetrator #1, and Tyler Owens hurn the victims #1, #5, and #7.
Victim #8 also said Dowkus used a punk to burn the victim #5. Victims #2, #9, and #4 said they
observed Dowkus bum the victim #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victims #5 and #6 said they
observed Dowkus burn victim #1 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020. Victim #1 said Dowkus burned victim #7
with a punk on 8/30/2020, and Dowkus also held victim #7 while he was getling burmned. Victim #1 also
sald that Dowkus said his punk ran out, and he was handed a sparkler and burned victim #1 with the
sparkler. Victims #1 and #6 said that Dowkus also held victim #1’s arms while he was being burned.
Also, according to victim #1, Dowkus told victim #1 that he was the only one who “took it like a man,”
Victims #1, #5, and #4 stated that victim #5 was burned a second week in a row for revenge because he
victim #5 was talk ng to a girl that Dowkus liked. Victims #3 and #5 also said that Dowkus decided that
victim #5 would be burned a second week in a row on 9/30/2020: they would tell him they pulled his
name from a hat, but they really did not do that; they just did not like him. Dowkus then burned victim
#5 with a sparkler. Victim #1 also ldentified Dowkus as burning victim #5 for the second week in a row.
Victim #4 said that Dowkus told victim #5 that every year, someone gets picked to go twice. According
to the victim #8, In October, a week after the second hazing incident, Dowkus told teammates: “,..I1f we
go down, we go down altogether.” Victim #5 also stated that Dowkus sent him a Snap Chat message
apologizing for what happened.
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The following was said as to Juvenlle perpetrator #1's activity at the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
Victims #3, #8, and #9 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 had a punk in his hand. Victim #5 sald the
captains were lighting the punks. Victim #3 said he observed juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8. Victim #5 said that juvenile perpetrator #1, as well as 8
others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #6
identifled juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, and Witkoski as burning him on his buttocks with punks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 also burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020, as well as
the victims #3, #9, and #5. Also, the victims #2, #3, and #5 said juvenile perpetrator #1 said: “What
happens here stays here, don't say anything.” Victim #2 also said juvenile perpetrator #1 used the
word: “[nitiation.”

Concerning juvenile perpetrator #1's activity during the second hazing incident on 8/30/2020, the
following was stated. Victim #8 said that he saw juvenile perpetrator #1, Dowkus, Witkoski and Owens
burn the victims #1, #5, and #7. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned the victim #5 with a
sparkler. Victim #1 said juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victims #1 and #7 with a punk on 9/30/2020,
Victim #1 also said that juvenile perpetrator #1 burned victim #5 for the second week in a row. Victim #5
said that juvenile perpetrator #1 and Witkoski apologized to him later in person.

The following was stated as to Tyler Owens' activity during the first hazing incident on 9/23/2020.
Victims #8, #9, and #3 said Owens had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 observed Owens, as well as 8
others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said he saw Owens, as weli as 8
others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2
said Owens burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020. After victim #2 was burned, Owens also burned the
victims #3, #9, and #5. The victim #5 said that both Tyler Owens and juvenile perpetrator #3 told him
that they were both burned with punks as an initiation previously.

Concerning Tyler Owens’ activity at the second hazing incident on 9/30/2020, the following was
stated. Victim #8 said he saw Owens, Dowkus, Witkoski and juvenile perpetrator #1 burn victims #1,
#5, and #7.

There were also statements provided concerning juvenile perpetrator #3's activity during the first
hazing incident on 9/23/2020, Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #3 was handed a punk from Witkoski
and Dowkus. Victims #3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #3 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 said
juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim
#5 said that juvenile perpetrator #3, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with
punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenlle perpetrator #3 burned him with a punk on
9/23/2020. After victim #2 was bumed, he said juvenile perpetrator #3 also burned the victims #3, #9,
and #5. Victim #5 also said that juvenile perpetrator #3 and Owens told him that they were both bumed
with punks as an initiation previously.

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #4’s activity during the first hazing incident on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus.
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Victim #3 said juvenile perpetrator #4 had a punk in his:hand on 9/23/2020. Victim #3 sald he also saw
juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as others, burn the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5
said he observed juvenile perpetrator #4, as well as 8 others, burn the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9
with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #4 burned him witha
punk on 9/23/2020. - After victim #2 was burned, juvenile perpetrator #4 also burned the victims #3, #9
and #5, according to victim #2.

Concerning Michael Balichik, there were also statements made as to his activity at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020. Victims #3 and #9 said Balichik had-a purik in his hand. Victim #3 also said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that
Balichik, as well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buftocks on
9/23/2020. Victim #2 said Balichik burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020. Vlctlm #2 also said that, after
he was burned, Balichik also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

There were also statements made concerning juvenile perpetrator #2's activity at the first hazing
incident on 9/23/2020, Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #2 was handed a punk from Witkoski and
Dowkus. Victims:#3 and #9 said juvenile perpetrator #2 had a punk in his hand. Victim #3 also said
juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #5, #9, #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said
that juvenile perpetrator #2, as well as 8 others, burned victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9.with punks on their
buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim #2 sald that juvenile perpetrator #2 burned him with a punk on 9/23/2020,
Victim #2 also said that, after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #2 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5.

There were statements made as to juvenile perpetrator #5’s activity on 9/23/2020 at the first hazmg incident,
Victim #2 said juvenile perpetrator #5 was handed a punk from Witkoski and Dowkus, Victim #3 said that
juvenile perpetrator #5 had a punk in his hand on 9/23/2020. Victim #3 said that juvenile perpetrator #5, as well
as 8 others, burned the victims #5, #9; #6, and #8 on 9/23/2020. Victim #5 said that juvenile lperpetra.tor #5, as
well as 8 others, burned the victims #2, #3, #8, #4, and #9 with punks on their buttocks on 9/23/2020. Victim#2
said that juvenile perpetrator #5 burned the victim #2 with a punk on 9/23/2020. The victim #2 also said that,
after he was burned, juvenile perpetrator #5 also burned the victims #3, #9, and #5. -

The following is a list of the victims and who burned them, based.on statements 'made‘

1. Victim #1: was burned by Damon Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on,
9/30/2020 ’

2. Vietim #2: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichsk Reed Witkoski, and by ;uvenile
: perpetrators #1, #2 #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

3. Victim #3: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvemle
perpetrators #1,#2,#3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020
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4, Vietim #5: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020, He was also burned on 9/30/2020 by Damon Dowkus,
juvenlle perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens.

5. Victim #8: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020,

o

9/30/2020.

Victim #7: was burned by Damon Dowkus, juvenile perpetrator #1, Reed Witkoski, and Tyler Owens on

7. Victim #4: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michae! Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by Juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

®

perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020,

Victim #6: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkaski, and by juvenile

9. Vietim #9: was burned by Damon Dowkus, Tyler Owens, Michael Balichik, Reed Witkoski, and by juvenile
perpetrators #1, #2, #3, #4 and #5 on 9/23/2020.

The following is a list of the perpetrators and who they burned, based on statements made by the victims:

1. Damon Dowkus: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

2. Reed Witkoski: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.
He also burned victim #7 with a punk, and victims #1 and #5 with a sparkler on 9/30/2020.

3. Juvenile perpetrator #1: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020. He also burned victims #7 and #1 with a punk, and victim #5 with a sparkler on

9/30/2020.

4. Tyler Owens: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020. He
also burned victim #7, #1 and #5 with a punk on 9/30/2020.
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5. Juvenile perpetrator #3: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

6. Juvenile perpetrator #2: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

7. Michael Balichik: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on 9/23/2020.

8. Juvenile perpetrator #5: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

9. Juvenile perpetrator #4: burned victims #2, #3, #5, #8, #4, #6, and #9 with a punk on
9/23/2020.

In addition to the original photos of their injuries that were taken within days of the incident, victims
#1 and #2 later provided photos of their injuries that turned into scars which were currently present:
victim #1 on his buttocks, and #2 on his leg and buttocks. Your affiant also took photos of the rest of the
victims: #5; #7; #9, #6, and #4. As with #1 and #2, these victims all had prominent scarring on their
buttocks. Victim #8 was observed to not have any scarring; and victim #3 said he did not have scars.

Based on the above evidence, your affiant has probable cause to believe that the defendant Michael
Balichik committed the following acts.

The defendant intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, for the purpose of initlating, admitting or affiliating a
minor or student into or with an organization, or for the purpose of continuing or enhancing a minor or student's
membership or status in an organization, caused, coerced or forced a minor or student to endure brutality of a
physical nature, including branding, when the defendant and eight other co-defendants initlated seven male
victims as "new starters" on the Mt. Carmel Area High School Football Team; the victims were made to pull down
their pants and expose their bare buttocks; the victims were each burned on thelr bare buttocks with a lit "punk”
stick, causing burns and pain to all seven victims; five of the victims sustained scarring as a result.

Also, with the intent of promoting or facilitating its commission, the defendant agreed with such other person
or persons that they or one or more of them will engage in conduct which constituted such crime or an attempt

ar solicitation to commit such crime. The defendant, along with 8 co-defendants, conspired to commit the crime
of Hazing on the victims.
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The affiant has probable cause to believe that the above information is truthful and correct.

, . A. DAVID SCICCHITANO, BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TQ THE LAW, DEPOSE AND SAY THAT THE
FACTS SET FORTH IN THE FORI:’GOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY
KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND BELIEF,

| CERTIFY THAT THIS FILING COMPLIES WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE CASE RECORDS PUBLIC AGCESS
POLICY OF THE UNIFIED JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF PENNSYLVANIA THAT REQUIRE FILING CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION AND DOCUNMENTS DIFFERENTLY THAT NON-CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS.

vy

(Signature of Affiant)

Sworn to me and subscribed before me this day of
[~ ] D FJ Date / "74—63 (\ /J/]—’/ . Magisterial District Judge
1 I g it -

My commission expires first Monday of January, DrFe "l -

SEAL
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